
common defense of the human spirit against the 
perils of international conflict and despair. 

The meeting rose at 2.30 p.m. 

FORTY-SIXTH MEETING 

Held at Lake Success, New York, 
on Friday, 6 May 1949, at 10.30 a.m. 

Chairman: General Carlos P. RoMuLO 
(Philippines) 

55. Application of Israel for admission 
to membership in the United Na
tions (A/818) (continued) 

The CHAIRMAN recalled that at its 44th meet
ing the Committee had adovted a decision to invite 
the representative of Israel to make such state
ments and 3.nswer such questions as the Commit
tee might deem desirable before reporting to the 
General Assembly on the item under considera
tion. In accordance with that decision, the repre
sentative of Israel had made a statement to the 
Committee, and several delegations had signified 
their desire to put questions to him. 

At the invitation of the Chairman, Mr. Eban, 
representative of Israel, took a seat at the Com
mittce tahle. 

Mr. DROHOJOWSKI (Poland) wished to put 
some questions to the representative of Israel. 

A verbatim account of the questions j;ut by the 
representative of Poland and of the replies given 
by the representative of Israel follows. 

Question: Whnm is Mr. Eban representing m 
this Committee? 

Answer. I have been invited here as the repre
sentative of the Government of Israel. 

Question: Has Mr. Eban other functions here 
in the United States? 

Answer: No. 

Question: Mr. Eban is representing here the 
State of Israel as such, but he is not representing 
-as far as I know-any specific religious de
nomination? 

Answer: That is so; I represent the Govern
ment of Israel alone. 

Question: Mr. Eban is, however, no doubt 
familiar with the relations between the State of 
Israel and groups of various religious denomina
tions in the State of Israel? 

Answer: The State of Israel contains a great 
variety of religious groups. The Government of 
Israel represents them all. In addition, the Gov
ernment of Israel is in contact and in negotiation 
with representatives of world religious authorities 
who have their representatives in the territory of 
Palestine. 

nombreuses imperfections, peuH~tre aussi avec 
quelques vertus, Israel offre son concours pour 
la defense commune de !'esprit humain contre !es 
dangers de conflits internationaux et contre le 
desespoir. 

La seance est levee a 14 h. 30. 

QUARANTE-SIXIEME SEANCE 

Tenue a Lake Success, New-York, 
lc vendredi 6 mai 1949, a 10 h. 30. 

President: Le general Carlos P. RoMuw 
(Philippines). 

55. Demande d'admission d'Israel a 
!'Organisation des Nations Unies 
(A/818) (suite) 

Le PRESIDENT rappelle que, a sa 44eme seance, 
la Commission a decide d'inviter le representant 
d'Israel a faire telles declarations et a repondre a 
telles questions que la Commission pourrait juger 
utiles avant de faire rapport a I' Assemblee generale 
sur la question dont elle est saisie. Conformement 
a cette decision, le representant d'Israel a fait une 
declaration devant Ia Commission, et plusieurs de
legations ont fait savoir qu'elles desiraient lui poser 
des questions. 

Sur !'invitation du President, M. Eban, repre
sentant d'Israel, prend place a Ia table de la Com
mission. 

M. DROHOJOWSKI (Pologne) desire poser quel
ques questions au representant d'Israel. 

On trouvera ci-dessous une traduction d~t 
compte rendu stcnographique des questions posees 
par le representant de la Pologne et des reponses 
donn res par le representant d' Israel. 

Question: Qui M. Eban represente-t-il devant 
1a Commission? 

Reponse: J'ai ete invite ici en tant que repre
sentant du Gouvernement d'Israel. 

Question: M. Eban remplit-il d'autres fonc
tions aux Etats-Unis? 

Reponse: Non. 

Question: M. Eban represente ici l'Etat d'Israel 
en tant que tel, mais il ne represente pas, que je 
sache, une confession religieuse determinee? 

Reponse: C'est exact; je represente settlement 
le Gouvernement d'Israel. 

Question: Je ne doute pas, cependant, que M. 
Eban ne soit au courant des relations entre I'Etat 
d'Israel et les groupes qui, dans cet Etat, appar
tiennent aux differentes confessions religieuses? 

Reponse: L'Etat d'Israel contient un grand 
nombre de groupes religieux differents. Le Gou
vernement d'Israel est en contact et poursuit des 
negociations avec des representants des autorites 
religieuses du monde entier qui ont des repn!
sentants en territoire palestinien. 

248 



Question: Therefore I take it that Mr. Eban is 
familiar with the situation of various religious 
groups in Israel? 

Answer: Yes, that is so. 

Q~testion: Could Mr. Eban tell us approxi
mately how many religious denominations there 
are within the State of Israel? 

Answer: Amongst the citizens of the State of 
Israel, there are groups of the Jewish, the Chris
tian and the Moslem religions. Each of those re
ligious groups is sub-divided into a great and 
complex variety of religious denominations and 
sects. I do not think it is possible to give an 
exact numerical definition at this stage, but cer
tainly it would run into something like thirty, 
forty, or even fifty recognizably distinct religious 
denominational groups-distinct in the sense that 
each one would claim the right to speak for itself 
and would not regard its group as being repre
sented by the authorities representing another 
group. 

Question: Would Mr. Eban say that there are 
also various functions or denominations within 
the Mosaic faith? 

Answer: The adherents of the Jewish religion 
are classified under the two main headings of the 
Sephardic community and the Ashkenazi com
munity, each of which has a separate Chief Rab
binate. 

Question: Would Mr. Eban say that if the draft 
resolution proposed by the Argentine delegation 
and its amendments were adopted and enlarged 
and that, for instance, if Chief Rabbi Herzog were 
invited to appear before this Committee, would 
he also represent the Sephardic group? 

Answer: I should say that the degree of fissure 
and division within the Jewish religious com
munity is far less than in the Christian religious 
community. Nevertheless, even in the case of the 
Jewish religious community, there is more than 
one section that would have to be consulted if 
there was a desire to receive the religious views 
of all the communities, denominations and sects. 

Question: Would Mr. Eban say that either of 
the Chief Rabbis of the Ashkenazi group or the 
Sephardic group would represent, for instance, the 
Samaritans? 

Answer: No, the Samaritan sect is a separate 
sect outside the organized Jewish religious com
munity. 

Question: I take it that Mr. Eban is familiar 
with the religious situation in his own country. 
Would he say that representatives of the Greek 
Orthodox Church and of the Roman Catholic 
Church could speak, for instance, for the Greek 
Armenians or the Coptic people ? 

Answer: No, the Coptic Patriarchate is distinct 
from the Armenian Patriarchate and unless there 
was some process of consultation between them, 
one could not presume, having heard a Catholic 
representative, that he knew the views of the 
Greek Armenian community, or having heard the 
latter, that he knew the views of the Coptic com
munity. To clarify the situation in one sentence, 
I should say that in order to obtain an impression 

Question: J'en conclus que M. Eban connait 
bien la situation des differents groupes religieu.x.. 
en Israel? 

Reponse: Certainement. 

Question: M. Eban pourrait-il me dire ap
proximativement combien de confessions reli
gieuses il existe dans l'Etat d'Israel? 

Reponse: Parmi les citoyens de l'Etat d'Israel, 
il y a des groupes appartenant aux religions juive, 
chretienne et musulmane. Chacun de ces groupes 
religieux se subdivise de fa<;on complexe en un 
grand nombre de confessions et de sectes. J e ne 
crois pas qu'il soit possible, au stade actuel, de 
donner des chiffres exacts, mais nous arriverions 
certainement a trente, quarante, ou meme cin
quante groupes confessionels parfaitement dis
tincts - distincts en ce sens que chacun revendi
querait le droit de parler pour son propre compte 
et ne se considererait pas comme represente par 
des autorites religieuses parlant au nom d'un autre 
groupe. 

Question: M. Eban dirait-il que Ia religion 
judaique comprend aussi plusieurs branches ou 
confessions ? 

Reponse: Les fideles de la religion judaique 
appartiennent a deux groupes principaux : la com
munaute sephardite et la communaute ashkenazie, 
dont chacune se trouve sous l'autorite d'un Grand 
Rabbin different. 

Question: M. Eban dirait-il que, si le projet de 
resolution presente par Ia delegation de 1' Argen
tine etait adopte avec les amendements et recevait 
une portee plus large, et si, par exemple, le Grand 
Rabbin Herzog etait invite a se presenter devant 
la Commission, il repn!senterait egalement le 
groupe sephardi? 

Reponse: J e pense que les divisions et les scis
sions a l'interieur de la communaute religieuse 
juive sont moins prononcees que celles que l'on 
trouve dans la communaute religieuse chretienne. 
N eanmoins, meme en ce qui concerne Ia commu
naute religieuse juive, il faudrait consulter plus 
d'un groupement si l'on voulait recueillir l'avis, en 
matiere religieuse, de toutes les communautes, 
confessions et sectes. 

Question: M. Eban dirait-il que l'un ou !'autre 
des Grands Rabbins du groupe ashkenazi ou du 
groupe sephardi pourrait representer, par exem
ple, les Samaritains? 

Reponse: Non. Les Samaritains constituent une 
secte separee qui ne fait pas partie de Ia com
munaute religieuse juive organisee. 

Question: Je tiens pour acquis que M. Eban 
est au courant de la situation dans son propre pays 
au point de vue des religions. Dirait-il que des 
representants de l'Eglise orthodoxe grecque et de 
l'Eglise catholique romaine pourraient, par ex
emple, parler au nom des Armeniens de rite grec, 
ou des Coptes ? 

R eponse: Non ; le patriarcat copte est distinct 
du patriarcat armenien; a mains qu'il n'y ait eu 
entre eux consultation, on ne pourrait, apres !'au
dition d~un representant catholique, pretendre 
connaitre les vues de la communaute armenienne 
de rite grec, ni apres !'audition de cette derniere, 
pretendre connaitre les vues de la communaute 
copte. Pour expliquer d'une phrase la situation, 
je dirais que, si l'on veut se faire une idee de 

249 



of religious opinion on Jerusalem or on any oth<:r 
question, it would be necessary to consult authon
ties and representatives numbering a dozen or 
more people. 

Question: If we had heard the representatives 
of the two main groups of the Mosaic faith, if 
we had heard the representatives of the Catholic 
Church, if we had heard the representatives of the 
Greek Orthodox Patriarchate, of the Armenian 
Orthodox and of the Coptic people, in Mr. Eban's 
estimation would that also be representative of the 
Anglican Church or other Protestant Churches, 
such as the Lutheran Church or the Calvinist 
Church? 

Answer: No. Any survey of religious history 
in Palestine would indicate that each of those re
ligious authorities would have to be heard sepa
rately. There is a great diversity of opinion in 
connexion with the protection of religious insti
tutions and the formulation of policies for the 
protection of Holy Places. My Government has 
been in contact and negotiation with many repre
sentatives of religious sects, and we have become 
impressed by the great diversity of opinion 
amongst them on many points of detail and even 
of principle. 

Question: That brings us to the problem of 
Holy Places. Mr. Eban is no doubt familiar with 
the topography of the Holy Places in Jerusalem 
and other localities in the Holy Land. Would he 
say that shrines which are venerated by Catholic 
people are sometimes the object of veneration by 
other people of Christian denominations? 

Answer: Certainly that is so. There are sacred 
places which are held in reverence by all Chris
tian denominations. Apart from this, there are 
churches and religious institutions which are the 
particular concern of a special religious sect. 

Question: Would Mr. Eban also say that under 
one and the same roof there are different places 
which different Christian denominations venerate? 

Answer: That would be an extreme case. I 
should not like to answer that question offhand. 
It is, however, true that in the custody of religious 
shrines and Holy Places there has often been 
evinced a great rivalry for the right of custody 
and for the right of control. 

Question: Would it also be true that there are 
places which are overlapping from the topographi
cal viewpoint between Christians and Moslems? 

Answer: That is true. There are limited areas 
which contain shrines and sites which are held 
in reverence by Christian, Moslem and Jewish 
adherents. The classic example of course is the 
Old City of Jerusalem, and especially the area 
included within and adjoining the Haram-esh
Sharif where, within a very small area, you have 
the most sacred Moslem site, the Mosque of Omar 
and the adjoining Mosque of AI Agaa, also the 
Wailing Wall, the site of the original Temple of 
Solomon, and at a short distance away, the Church 
of the Holy Sepulchre. 

Question: Where, in Mr. Eban's expert opin
ion, do the Moslem people have a single authority 
or a single body which could be called to express 
its authoritative opinion here on Moslem desi
derata? 

Answer: Since the abolition of the Caliphate 
which was a central Moslem authority recognized 

1' opinion des groupements religieux sur Jerusalem 
ou tout autre sujet, il faudrait consulter une 
douzaine au mains de representants qualifies. 

Question: Si nous avions entendu les repre
sentants des deux principaux groupes de foi mo
saique, si nous avions entendu les representants 
de l'Eglise catholique, si nous avions entendu les 
representants du patriarcat orthodoxe grec, des 
Armeniens orthodoxes et des Coptes, M. Eban 
estime-t-il que leur opinion refleterait aussi les 
vues de l'Eglise anglicane ou des autres Eglises 
protestantes, comme l'Eglise lutherienne ou 
l'Eglise calviniste? 

Reponse: Non. I1 suffit de jeter un coup d'ceil 
sur l'histoire des religions en Palestine pour se 
convaincre qu'il faut ecouter separement les di
verses autorites religieuses. Les opinions varient 
beaucoup quant a hi protection des institutions 
religieuses et aux mesures a prendre pour la pro
tection des Lieux saints. Mon Gouvernement a 
pris contact avec de nombreux representants de 
sectes religieuses et a negocie avec eux; nous 
avons ete frappes par leurs grandes divergences 
d' opinion sur maintes questions de detail et meme 
de principe. 

Question: Ceci nous amene au probleme des 
Lieux saints. M. Eban est sans nul doute fa
milier avec Ia topographie des Lieux saints a 
Jerusalem et en d'autres localites de Terre sainte. 
Existe-t-il, a son avis, des sanctuaires veneres 
par les catholiques qui soient aussi parfois veneres 
par des chretiens d'autres denominations? 

Reponse: I1 en est certainement ainsi. Certains 
sanctuaires sont reveres par tous les chretiens. 
Mais il y a aussi des eglises et des institutions 
religieuses particulierement consacrees au culte 
d'une secte religieuse distincte. 

Question: Peut-il arriver aussi qu'on trouve 
sous le meme toit divers autels que venerent des 
chretiens de denominations differentes? 

Reponse: Ce serait la un cas exceptionnel; 
j'aimerais ne pas repondre a cette question de but 
en blanc. I1 est cependant vrai que le droit de 
garde et de controle des sanctuaires religieux et 
Lieux saints a fait souvent !'objet d'une apre 
rivalite. 

Question: Est-il egalement vrai qu'il y a des 
lieux ou, topographiquement parlant, se rencon
trent a Ia fois chretiens et musulmans? 

Reponse: C'est vrai. II est des zones assez res
treintes ou existent des sanctuaires veneres a Ia 
fois par des fideles chretiens, musulmans et juifs. 
La Ville vieille de Jerusalem en est, bien entendu, 
l'exemple classique, et particulierement l'endroit 
situe a l'interieur et aux abords de Harem-esh
Sharif, ou I'on rencontre cote a cote le plus sacre 
des sanctuaires musulmans, Ia mosquee d'Omar et 
Ia mosquee voisine d' AI Agaa, puis Ie Mur des 
lamentations, !'emplacement du temple original 
de Salomon, et, tout pres, Ia basilique du Saint
Sepulcre. 

Question: M. Eban, qui est fort au courant de 
ces questions- croit-il que Ie peuple musulman 
reconnaisse une autorite unique ou un organisme 
qui puisse etre appele a exprimer ici un avis au
torise sur les aspirations musulmanes? 

Reponse: Depuis !'abolition du califat qui con
stituait l'autorite musulmane centrale, reconnue 

250 



by adherents of Islam throughout the world, there 
has never been a single Moslem authority uni
versally recognized by all sections of those of the 
Moslem faith. 

Question: Are there, in Mr. Eban's opinion, 
Moslems of different sects or different denomina
tions in the territory of the State of Israel? 

Answer: Yes, there are. 

Sir Mohammed ZAFRULLAH KHAN (Pakistan) 
wished to comment on certain remarks concern
ing Pakistan made by the representative of Israel 
in his statement at the preceding meeting1 • 

The representative of Israel had stated that the 
representative of Pakistan had succeeded in pre
vailing upon the General Assembly in plenary 
meeting to require committee consideration of the 
item on the application of Israel. The representa
tive of Israel would surely agree that from every 
point of view it was preferable that the present 
kind of discussion should be held in committee 
rather than in plenary meeting. 

The representative of Israel had further re
marked that on no other occasion had an appli
cant for membership been called upon to express 
his views on international problems in the context 
of the discussion on admission to membership. 
That remark seemed to indicate that the repre
sentative of Israel objected to having been given 
the opportunity to make statements ana answer 
questions on behalf of his Government, an oppor
tunity of which he had availed himself. The repre
sentative of Pakistan recalled that he had not pro
posed that such an opportunity should be extended 
to the representative of Israel; however, when 
such a proposal had been made, he had voted in its 
favour because he considered it a matter of fair
ness that the representative of Israel should be 
permitted to make statements and answer questions 
relating to the matters raised in the context of 
the discussion. 

The representative of Israel had alleged that, 
in discussing the matter in plenary meeting, the 
representative of Pakistan had "referred in vivid 
terms to his own harrowing ordeals in guiding 
his country's application through the intricate rou
tines of the General Assembly". Sir Zafrullah 
Khan wished to point out that he had in fact made 

1 The portion of the statement at the 45th meeting to 
which reference is made is as follows : 

"The distinguished representative of Pakistan in plead
ing to the General Assembly for what he called a normal 
procedure, successfully prevailed upon the plenary meeting 
to require committee consideration of this item. Yet the 
adherents of 'normal procedures' cannot point to any other 
occasion on which a candidate for membership has been 
called upon to express its views on international problems 
in the context of the discussion on admission to member
ship. 

"The representative of Pakistan referred in vivid terms 
to his own harrowing ordeals in guiding his country's ap
plication through the intricate routines of the General 
Assembly. Yet on that occasion when he eventually reached 
the stage of committee discussion the Pakistan representa
tive was not interrogated on his intentions with regard to 
Kashmir. He was not called upon to explain his country's 
intentions with regard to the eleven million refugees who 
were rendered homeless through the establishment of his 
State." 

par les adherents de l'Islam dans le monde entier, 
il n'y a plus jamais eu d'autorite universelle~~nt 
acceptee par toutes les branches de la rehgton 
musulmane. 

Question: Y a-t-il, selon M. Eban, des musul
mans de differentes sectes ou denominations sur 
le territoire de l'Etat d'Israel? 

Reponse: Oui, certainement. 

Sir Mohammed ZAFRULLAH KHAN (Pakistan) 
desire presenter quelques observations sur cer
taines remarques faites a la seance precedente par 
le representant d'Israel a l'egard du Pakistan1

• 

Le representant d'Israel a declare que le repn!
sentant du Pakistan avait reussi a persuader 
I' Assemblee generale de renvoyer a une commis
sion, pour examen, la question de !'admission 
d'Israel. Le representant d'Israel conviendra qu'il 
est preferable, a tous points de vue, que le genre 
de discussion qui se deroule en ce moment ait lieu 
en commission plutot qu'en seance pleniere. 

Le representant d'Israel a fait egalement remar
quer que c'etait la premiere fois qu'un pays can
didat a !'admission etait appele a exprimer son 
opinion sur les problemes internationaux dans le 
cadre d'une discussion sur son admission a !'Or
ganisation. Cette remarque semble indiquer que, 
de l'avis du representant d'Israel, on n'aurait pas 
dii lui donner I' occasion de faire des declarations, 
de repondre a des questions, au nom de son Gou
vernement; mais cette occasion, il I' a saisie. Le 
representant du Pakistan rappelle qu'il n'avait 
pas propose que l'on offre cette possibilite au 
representant d'Israel; toutefois, cette proposition 
ayant ete faite, il a vote en sa faveur parce que, a 
son avis, il n'etait que juste de permettre au repre
sentant d'Israel de faire des declarations et de re
pondre a des questions sur les divers points que 
pourrait soulever la discussion. 

Le representant d'Israel a pretendu que, lors 
de la discussion de cette question en seance ple
niere, le representant du Pakistan avait "brosse 
un tableau tres colore des penibles epreuves par 
lesquelles il avait dii lui-meme passer lorsqu'il 
lui avait fallu acheminer la demande d'admission 
de son pays a travers le dedale de Ia procedure 

1 On trouvera ci-dessous une traduction du compte rendu 
stenographique du passage en question de Ia decla:ration 
faite a Ia 45eme seance: 

"Le distingue representant du Pakistan, par son plai
doyer en seance pleniere pour ce qu'il appelait une proce
dure normale, a reussi a persuader I' Assemblee generate 
de renvoyer Ia question a une commission pour examen. 
Et pourtant, les avocats d'une "procedure normal" sont 
incapables de citer un seul cas ou un candidat a !'admission 
a !'Organisation aurait ete appele a exprimer, dans le 
cadre de Ia discussion sur son admission, son opinion sur 
des problemes internationaux. 

"Le representant du Pakistan a brosse un tableau tres 
colore des penibles epreuves par lesquelles il a du lui
meme passer lorsqu'il lui a fallu acheminer Ia demande 
d'admission de son pays a travers le dedale de Ia procedure 
a I' Assemblee generate. Mais, lorsque Ia demande d'admis
sion du Pakistan en est finalement arrivee a etre discutee 
en commission, le representant de ce pays n'a pas ete in
terroge sur ses intentions a l'egard du Cachemire. On ne 
lui a pas demande quelles etaient les intentions de son 
Gouvernement a I' egard des onze millions de refugies que 
l'etablissement de l'Etat de Pakistan avait prives de leur 
foyer." 

251 

• 



• 

no such reference, but had only stated that Pakis
tan, like any other applicant for admission, had 
had to follow the normal course, and had been 
rightly treated like a mere visitor to the Assembly 
before its admission to the United Nations 1 • 

The representative of Israel had further re
marked that when the application of Pakistan had 
eventually reached the stage of commi~tee discus
sion, the representative of Pakistan had not been 
interrogated on his intentions with regard to Kash
mir. The representative of Israel had apparently 
overlooked the fact that Pakistan had been ad
mitted to membership in the United Nations in 
September 1947, while the question of Kashmir 
had not arisen in any form until late Oct€lber of 
that year. 

The representative of Israel had also called 
attention to the question of refugees on the sub
continent of India. It was true that about four 
million non-Muslim inhabitants had gone from 
western Pakistan to India, and that more than six 
million Muslims had been compelled to leave India 
and take refuge in Pakistan. But to bring up that 
issue was pointless and irrelevant, since the posi
tions of both Pakistan and India on the matter 
had been perfectly clear. Both sides had done 
everything in their power in respect of the refu
gees, so that by December 1948 every one of 
them had been resettled, either on the land or in 
urban areas. Both parties, while gratefully accept
ing all outside help, had accepted full responsi
bility in the matter. 

None of the above questions, as compared with 
the questions relating to the admission of Israel 
to membership in the United Nations, had had 
any relevance to the admission of Pakistan. 

As the representative of Israel had correctly 
remarked, the only question pertinent to the issue 
under discussion was whether Israel was eligible 
for membership within the meaning of Article 4 
of the Charter. Israel was distinguished from all 
other applicants for membership by the fact that 
it had actually been created by the United Nations. 
In the process of the creation and recognition of 
the State of Israel, the United Nations had im
posed certain obligations upon it. It was therefore 
fully. relevant to any discussion of the application 
of Israel to establish whether that State had car
ried out, or was willing to carry out, those obliga
tions. The question was all the more acute since 
persons holding responsible positions in the State 
of Israel had made declarations which cast serious 
doubt upon the willingness of the Israeli Govern
ment to do so. The Committee had invited the 
representative of Israel to make statements and 
answer questions in order to gain a clear insight 
into the Israeli Government's attitude to those 
obligations. 

Mr. HAKIM (Lebanon) reserved the right to 
reply to the attacks upon his country made by the 

1 See Official Records of the third session of the General 
Assembly, Part II, 191st plenary meeting. 

a l'Assemblt~e generale". Sir Mohammed Zafrul
lah Khan tient a souligner que, en realite, il n'a 
jamais fait semblable description, mais s'est borne 
a declarer que le Pakistan, comme tout autre 
candidat, avait du suivre la filiere normale et que 
l'Assemblee l'avait, a juste titre, traite comme un 
simple visiteur jusqu'au moment ou il avait ete 
admis a l'Organisation1

• 

Ensuite, le representant d'Israel a rappele que 
lorsque la demande d'admission du Pakistan en 
etait finalement arrivee a etre discutee en com
mission, le representant du Pakistan n'avait pas 
ete interroge sur les intentions de son Gouverne
ment a l'egard du Cachemire. Le representant 
d' Israel semble a voir oublie que le Pakistan a ete 
admis a !'Organisation des Nations Unies en 
septembre 1947 et que la question du Cachemire 
n'a fait sa premiere apparition qu'a la fin du mois 
d'octobre de la meme annee. 

Le representant d'Israel a aussi attire !'atten
tion sur la question des refugies dans le sous
continent de l'Inde. Il est vrai que quelque quatre 
millions de non-Musulmans ont quitte le Pakistan 
occidental pour l'Inde, et que plus de six millions 
de Musulmans ont ete forces de quitter l'Inde 
pour chercher refuge au Pakistan. Mais il ne sert 
a rien de revenir sur cette question, qui est 
d'ailleurs hors du sujet, puisque la position du 
Pakistan, aussi bien que celle de l'Inde, etait tres 
nette ; les deux parties ont fait tout ce qui etait 
en leur pouvoir a l'egard des refugies, de telle 
sorte que, des decembre 1948, ils etaient rein
stalles jusqu'au dernier, soit dans les campagnes, 
soit aux abords des villes. Les deux parties, tout 
en acceptant avec gratitude l'aide venue de l'ex
terieur, ont pris toutes leurs responsabilites dans 
cette affaire. 

Aucune des questions qui viennent d'etre men
tionnees n'avait un rapport quelconque avec !'ad
mission du Pakistan a !'Organisation; on ne peut 
en dire autant des questions qui se rapportent a 
!'admission d'Israel. 

Le representant d'Israel a tres justement fait 
remarquer que la seule question qui se pose re
ellement, dans le cadre de la presente discussion, 
est de savoir si Israel remplit les conditions neces
saires a !'admission que prevoit !'Article 4 de la 
Charte. L'Etat d'Israel differe de tous les autres 
candidats en ce qu'il a, en fait, ete cree par !'Or
ganisation des Nations Unies. Au cours du pro
cessus de creation et de reconnaissance de cet 
Etat, !'Organisation lui a impose certaines obli
gations. Il est done parfaitement pertinent de 
s'assurer, dans le cadre de la discussion sur la 
demande d'admission d'Israel, que cet Etat a 
rempli, ou est dispose a remplir, ces obligations. 
Cela est d'autant plus important que certains di
rigeants de l'Etat d'Israel ont fait des declarations 
qui permettent de douter serieusement des bonnes 
dispositions d'Israel sur ce point. Si la Commis
sion a invite le representant d'Israel a faire des 
declarations et a repondre a des questions, c'est 
afin d'etre eclairee sur !'attitude de son Gouverne
ment vis-a-vis des obligations en question. 

M. HAKIM (Liban) se reserve de repondre aux 
ataques faites contre son pays par le representant 

1 Voir les Documents officiels de Ia troisieme session de 
l'Assemblee gbterale, deuxieme partie, 19leme seance 
pleniere. 

252 



representative of Israel at the preceding meeting1
, 

as well as to comment fully on that statement in 
connexion with the points at issue. He wished to 
address some questions to the representative of 
Israel. 

Mr. EBAN (Israel) expressed the wish to reply 
to the remarks of the representative of Pakistan. 

The CHAIRMAN stated that, since the repre
sentative of Pakistan had addressed no questions 
to the representative of Israel, the latter could not 
make any reply. A member of the Committee had 
the authority and the privilege to make a state
ment. 

A verbatim account of the questions put by the 
representative of Lebanon and the replies given 
by the representative of Israel follows. 

Question: The representative of Israel stated 
that his Government is willing to accept an inter
national regime for the Holy Places. With regard 
to this position I would like to ask, first, who 
would have sovereignty over the New City of 
Jerusalem under such a regime? 

Answer: That point is fully explained in the 
course of my statement, during which I referred 
to the suggestion of the Prime Minister of Israel 
that the juridical status of Jerusalem should be 
discussed and decided at the forthcoming session 
of the General Assembly. At that forthcoming 
session of the General Assembly, my Government 
will make its proposals which will cover not merely 
the administrative aspects of the Jerusalem prob
lem and the arrangements to be made for the 
international regime to the Holy Places, but also 
suggestions governing sovereignty in the rest of 
the city. 

My Government believes that the reconciliation 
of the universal religious interests with the national 
sentiment and allegiance of the population of J e
rusalem would best be served if an international 
regime were to confine its jurisdiction and sov
ereignty to the protection and immunity of the 
Holy Places. 

My Government believes that the integration 
of the Jewish part of Jerusalem into the State of 
Israel is a healthy and natural process for which 
in due time we shall seek juridical confirmation. 

Question: Am I right in concluding from this 
reply that as far as political and civil matters are 
concerned, the New City of Jerusalem, which has 
been integrated in the State of Israel, would be 
under Israeli sovereignty? 

Answer: That may be the proposal which we 
shall make. If it commends itself to the General 
Assembly, that is the position which will exist. 

1 The portion of the statement at the 45th meeting to 
which reference is made is as follows : 

"The statement in the Leban~se draft resolution to the 
effect that the ] ewish part of Jerusalem has been pro
claimed a part of the State of Israel is a false and malicious 
statement. Tt is extraordinary that the representative of a 
Member State should find it possible to introduce a false
hood into the preamble of a draft resolution." 

d'Israel a Ia seance piecedente1 et de reprenclre 
point par point les questions soulevees par le 
discours de ce representant. II voudrait poser 
quelques questions au representant d'Israel. 

M. EBAN (Israel) exprime le desir de repondre 
aux observations du representant du Pakistan. 

Le PRESIDENT declare que, le representant du 
Pakistan n'ayant pas adresse de question au repre
sentant d'Israel, celui-ci ne peut repondre. II ap
partient a un membre de la Commission de faire 
une declaration, c'est la son privilege. 

On trouvera ci-dessous une traduction du 
compte rendu stenographique des questions posees 
par le representant du Liban et des reponses don
nees par le representant d' Israel. 

Question: Le representant d'Israel a declare 
que son Gouvernement etait pret a accepter l'eta
blissement d'un regime international pour les 
Lieux saints. J e voudrais lui demander tout 
cl'abord, a ce propos, qui exercerait, sous ce re
gime, la souverainete sur la Ville neuve de J eru
salem? 

Reponse: J'ai apporte toutes les precisions a cet 
egard dans rna declaration, au cours de laquelle 
j'ai mentionne la suggestion faite par le Premier 
Ministre d'Israel, selon laquelle c'est l'Assemblee 
generale qui devait discuter et trancher la question 
du statut juridique de Jerusalem lors de sa pro
chaine session. A cette session de 1' Assemblee, 
mon Gouvernement soumettra ses propositions qui 
porteront non seulement sur !'aspect administratif 
de la question de Jerusalem et les dispositions a 
prendre a propos du regime international des 
Lieux saints, mais egalement sur la question de la 
souverainete qui sera exercee sur le reste de la 
ville. 

Mon Gouvernement estime que la meilleure 
fa<;on de concilier l!'!s interets universels d'ordre 
religieux et les sentiments de loyalisme national 
de la population de Jerusalem consisterait a limi
ter a Ia protection et a l'immunite des Lieux saints 
la competence et la souverainete du regime inter
national. 

Mon Gouvernement estime que !'integration de 
la partie juive de Jerusalem dans l'Etat d'Israei 
constitue un processus normal et nature! que nous 
chercherons a faire ratifier, en temps utile, par 
des mesures d'ordre juridique. 

Question: Puis-je conclure de cettc reponse 
qu'en ce qui concerne les questions politiques et 
civiles, la Ville neuve de Jerusalem, qui a ete 
integree dans l'Etat d'Israel, serait placee sous la 
souverainete d'Israel? 

Reponse: II est possible que nous h,:;ions une 
proposition a cet effet. Si l'Assemhlee generale 
l'approuve, ce sera, en ef'fet, la !>i.._·ation qui 
existera. 

1 On trouvera ci-dessous une traduction du passage en 
question du compte rendu stenographique de Ia declaration 
faite a Ia 45eme seance: 

"La declaration figurant dans le pr 1iet de resolution du 
Liban, selon laquelle le GctJvernemeut d'IsraiH aurait pro
dame que Ia partie i uive cle] erusalem fait partie integrante 
de l'Etat d'Israel, est fausse et et faite a des fins malhon
netes. II est extraordinaire qu'il soit permis au repre
sentant d'un Etat Membre d'introduire une assertion fausse 
dans le preambule d'un projet de resolution." 

253 



Question: I have a second question. In the sec
ond progress report of the United Nations Concil
iation Commission for Palestine ( A/838), at the 
end of paragraph 28, Mr. Ben-Gurion, the Prime 
Minister of Israel, is stated to have said: "For 
historical, political and religious reasons, the State 
of Israel could not accept the establishment of an 
international regime for the city of Jerusalem." 

This, I presume, is a statement of policy of the 
Goyernment of Israel expressed by its Prime Min
ister. Has this policy been changed since that 
statement was made? 

Answer: The statement to which the representa
tive of Lebanon has referred is part of a statement 
of policy by the Government of Israel and does 
not, of course, given an accurate impression unless 
the statement as a whole is read. The statement 
as a whole indicated the desire of the Government 
of Israel to make proposals at the forthcoming 
session of the General Assembly for defining the 
future juridical status of Jerusalem. He made it 
clear that the proposals that we should put for
ward-although they are not finally crystallized 
and although we are still in an intermediate stage 
of consideration-would differentiate between the 
powers of an international regime with respect 
to the Holy Places and the aspiration of the Gov
ernment of Israel to become recognized as the 
sovereign authority in Jerusalem. 

Of course the advocacy of that proposal does 
not in itself create the fact which is advocated. In 
another Committee of the General Assembly, cer
tain representatives of States put forward sug
gestions that they should be granted the trustee
ship over certain large areas in Africa1• By advo
cating that proposal they do not yet create the 
fact of that trusteeship. 

Mr. Ben-Gurion was outlining to the Concilia
tion Commission the trend of thought of the 
Government of Israel on the problem of Jerusalem. 
We are pursuing our discussions with the Concilia
tion Commission on this subject and presumably 
proposals to give effect to that policy will be 
brought before the General Assembly by the Gov
ernment of Israel either in the form of its own 
proposals or by way of amendment and criticism 
to the proposals that we are awaiting from the 
Conciliation Commission. 

Questi_on: With regard to this statement, I 
would like to ask the representative of Israel to 
reply clearly and simply to the following question: 
Mr. Ben-Gurion said the State of Israel could 
not accept the establishment of an international 
regime for Jerusalem. Does this statement stand 
or fall? It is very clear and I should like to have 
a clear reply to this question. 

1 See Official Records of the third session of the General 
Assembly, Part II, First Committee, 238th meeting. 

Question: J e voudrais poser une autre question. 
Le paragraphe 28 du deuxieme rapport sur ~· e-yo
lution de la situation, presente par Ia Commtsswn 
de conciliation de !'Organisation des Nations 
Unies pour la Palestine (A/838), contient la de
claration suivante attribuee a M. Ben-Gurion, 
Premier Ministre d'Israel: "Pour des raisons 
d'ordre politique, historique et religieux, l'Etat 
d'Israel ne pourra pas accepter l'etablissement 
d'un regime international pour la Ville de J eru
salem". 

J'estime que c'est Ia une indication officielle, 
emanant du Premier Ministre, sur la politique que 
le Gouvernement d'Israel entend poursuivre. Cette 
politique a-t-elle ete modifiee depuis que cette de
claration a ete faite? 

Reponse: La declaration que vient de mention
ner le representant du Liban fait partie d'une de
claration faite par le Gouvernement d'Israel au 
sujet de sa politique; mais, bien entendu, pour en 
juger, il faut lire la declaration tout entiere. L'en
semble de cette declaration temoigne du desir 
qu'eprouve le Gouvernement d'Israel de presenter 
des propositions a la prochaine session de I' As
semblee generale en vue de definir le statut juri
clique futur de la Ville de Jerusalem. Le Gou
vernement a indique clairement que les proposi
tions que nous ferions - bien qu'elles n'aient pas 
encore revetu une forme definitive et que nous en 
soyons toujours au stade intermediaire de l'exa
men de la question - etabliraient une distinction 
entre les pouvoirs d'un regime international qui 
serait etabli sur les Lieux saints et le desir qu'a 
le Gouvernement d'Israei d'etre reconnu en tant 
qu'autorite souveraine dans la Ville de Jerusalem. 

II est evident, toutefois, que le fait de preco
niser cette solution ne suffit pas a la faire accepter. 
Dans une autre Commission; les representants de 
certains-' Etats ont presente des suggestions ten
dant a leur faire attribuer la tutelle sur certains . 
territoires etendus d' Afrique1 . Le fait qu'ils aient 
mis en avant cette proposition ne signifie pas que 
ce droit de tutelle leur ait d'ores et deja ete ac
corde. 

M. Ben-Gurion a expose a grands traits, a Ia 
Commission de conciliation, les tendances qui 
s'etaient manifestees au sein du Gouvernement 
d'Israel quant au probleme de Jerusalem. N ous 
poursuivons nos discussions avec la Commission _ 
de conciliation a ce sujet et i1 est probable que 
le Gouvernement d'Israel soumettra a l' Assem
blt~e generate des propositions tendant a donner 
effet a cette politique ; il le fera soit sous forme 
de propositions qu'il presentera lui-meme, soit 
sous forme d'amendements et de critiques qu'il 
formulera a propos des propositions que fera la 
Commission de conciliation. 

Question: A propos de cette d~claration, je 
voudrais demander au representant d'Israel de 
donner une reponse claire et simple a la question 
suivante: M. Ben-Gurion a declare que l'Etat 
d'Israel ne pouvait accepter l'etablissement d'un 
regime international pour la Ville de Jerusalem. 
Cette declaration est-elle toujours valable ou ne 
l'est-elle plus? Ma question est parfaitement claire 
et je voudrais qu'on y reponde d'une fa<;on tout 
aussi claire. 

1 Voir les Documents officiels dl! Ia troisieme session de 
l'Assemblee generale, deuxieme partie, Premiere Com
mission, 238eme seance. 

254 



Answer: If the representative of Lebanon does 
not find my statement clear or simple, I very much 
regret his dilemma. I intend to an~wer these ques
tions in my own way and in my own form and not 
to be subjected to forensic manreuvres attempting 
to isolate one sentence from its general context, 
and to secure thereby a more drastic or clear-cut 
reply than is really reflected in my Government's 
attitude to the Jerusalem problem at this inter
mediate stage. 

Question: I should like to go on from this point 
and ask the representative of the Government of 
Israel a question relating to the same point. 

In the second sentence of paragraph 28 of the 
second progress report, we read: "Mr. Ben-Gurion 
informed the Commission that he recognized that 
the Commission was bound by the General Assem
bly resolution of 11 December 1948. He stated, 
however, that when the Government of Israel was 
in a position to do so on an equal footing with the 
Arab States, it intended to request the General 
Assembly to revise part of that resolution con
cerning Jerusalem". 

I should like to ask, with regard to this state
ment, whether the Government of Israel is willing 
to undertake now, in advance, to respect any de
cisions which the General Assembly might take or 
to respect the decisions of the General Assembly 
which exist, if the Government of Israel fails to 
receive from the General Assembly a modification 
of its present resolution of 29 November 1947 
(181 (II)) and 11 December 1948 (194 (III)). 
In other words, after the Government of Israel has 
requested the General Assembly to revise part of 
the resolution of 11 December 1948 concerning 
Jerusalem, and ·after it has failed to receive satis
faction for its request, under that supposition and 
in that case, would the Government of Israel be 
willing to undertake from now that it will respect 
the resolutions of the General Assembly? 

Answer: I should like to answer that question 
in two parts. 

1. Unlike the Government of Lebanon, the Gov
ernment of Israel will never join in a warlike 
coalition for the purpose of launching a brutal 
war in order to overthrow a resolution of the Gen
eral Assembly by force. 

2. In the event that proposals are put forward 
at the forthcoming session of the General Assembly 
and that my Government is a Member of the Gen
eral Asse~p.bly, then Article 10 of the Charter 
would apply, namely, the General Assembly would 
have power to make recommendations to the Gov
ernment of Israel. The General Assembly is em
powered to make recommendations to Member 
States and to the Security Council. 

In the event that a recommendation is made to 
the Government of Israel, my Government's atti
tude to that recommendation will be influenced by 
the theory which I explained yesterday, namely, 
that my Government takes a view towards increas
ing the compelling moral force of General Assem
bly resolutions and does not accept the theory 
adduced by Arab States over the last six or eight 
months to the effect that General Assembly reso
Iutional are optional and may be discarded at will. 

Reponse: Si Ie representant du Liban ne trouve 
pas que rna declaration est claire et simple, je re
grette vivement l'embarras ou il se trouve. }'en
tends repondre a ces questions a rna maniere et 
dans Ia forme qui me convient le mieux; je ne 
veux pas subir des manreuvres avocassieres qui 
tendent a isoler une phrase de son contexte en 
vue d'obtenir par ce moyen une reponse plus 
explicite et plus precise que celle qui traduit 
reellement !'attitude adoptee par mon Gouverne
ment a l'egard du probleme de Jerusalem a ce 
stade intermediaire. 

Question: Je voudrais, a partir de Ia, poser au 
representant du Gouvernement d'Israel une ques
tion portant sur le meme sujet. 

Le paragraphe 28 du deuxieme rapport sur 
!'evolution de la situation contient Ie passage sui
vant: "M. Ben-Gurion a declare qu'il reconnais
sait que Ia Commission etait Iiee par Ia resolution 
de l'Assemblee generale du 11 decembre 1948. 
Toutefois, il a declare que, lorsque Ie Gouverne
ment d'Israel serait sur un pied d'egalite avec les 
Etats arabes, il avait !'intention de demander a 
1' Assemblee generale de revenir sur la partie de la 
resolution relative a Jerusalem." 

J e voudrais demander, a propos de cette decla
ration, si Ie Gouvernement d'Israel est pret a 
s'engager, des maintenant, a respecter toute deci
sion que 1' Assemblee generale pourrait prendre a 
l'avenir, et a respecter celles qu'elle a deja adop
tees, au cas ou il ne reussirait pas a faire modifier 
les resolutions que 1' Assemblee generale a adop
tees le 29 novembre 1947 ( 181 (II)) et le 11 de
cembre 1948 (194 (III)). En d'autres termes, si 
le Gouvernement d'Israel, apres avoir demande a 
1' Assemblee generale de revenir sur la partie de la 
resolution du 11 decembre 1948 relative a J erusa
lem, n'obtenait pas satisfaction a sa demande, ce 
Gouvernement serait-il pret, dans cette eventua
lite, a s'engager des maintenant a respecter les 
resolutions de 1' Assemblee generale? 

Reponse: J e voudrais repondre a cette question 
en deux parties. 

1. Contrairement au Gouvernement du Liban. 
le Gouvernement d'Israel ne se joindra jamais a 
une coalition destinee a lancer une guerre d'agres
sion afin de reduire a neant, par la force des 
arme~, la portee d'une resolution de 1' Assemblee 
generale. 

2. Si des propositions sont formulees a la pro
chaine session de 1' Assemblee generale et si mon 
Gouvernement est Membre de cette Assemblee, 
l'Article 10 de la Charte jouera, c'est dire que 
l'Assemblee aura le droit de formuler des recom
mandations a l'adresse du Gouvernement d'Israel. 
L' Assemblee generale est habilitee a adresser des 
recommandations aux Etats Membres et au Con
seil de securite. 

Si une recommandation est adressee au Gouver
nement d'Israel, !'attitude de mon Gouvernement 
a l'egard de cette recommandation s'inspirera de 
la theorie que j'ai exposee hier: mon Gouverne
ment desire voir renforcer !'obligation morale qui 
s'attache aux resolutions de 1' Assemblee generale 
et n'accepte pas la theorie preconisee par les Etats 
arabes au cours des six ou huit derniers mois, 
selon laquelle ces resolutions n'ont qu'un carac
tere facultatif et peuvent ne pas etre observees si 
tel est le bon plaisir de tel ou tel pays. 

255 



Question: I think the representative of Israel 
has evaded a reply to my question. I simply asked 
whether the Government of Israel would be will
ing to undertake from now to accept the resolu
tions of the General Assembly or whatever changes 
are made in them in the future, as regards the 
question of Jerusalem, after they have sought and 
failed to get their own proposals for Jerusalem 
accepted by the General Assembly. 

Answer: The answer that I have given consti
tutes an answer to the question that has just been 
asked. 

Question: I have more questions. In view of the 
character of the city of Jerusalem and the right 
that we claim for Christians and Moslems to live 
in that city, does the representative of Israel agree 
that whatever the solution of the problem of J e
rusalem that the Government might propose, the 
Christians and Moslems, who have lived in the 
new city of Jerusalem for generations and who 
have fled from that city as a result of the hostili
ties, would be allowed to go back to their homes 
in the New City of Jerusalem ? 

Answer: I think that question is an integral 
part of the refugee question, and if I may sum
marize the attitude which I outlined yesterday, 
it was that discussions should immediately proceed 
at Lausanne between all the Governments of the 
Near East with a view to securing an agreement 
amongst themselves on the rehabilitation and re
settlement of Arab refugees in Israel and in other 
countries of the Near East as part of -what the 
Conciliation Commission calls "a programme of 
the general rehabilitation and recovery of the Near 
East". · 

It would seem to me that the problem of the 
return of previous residents of Jerusalem to that 
city should be envisaged in that context. One 
factor of the problem has been emphasized by the 
representative of Lebanon: namely, the question 
of the return of previous Arab residents to their 
homes in such quarters as Qatamon and Upper 
Bad'd and other of the Arab quarters of the New 
City. 

Simultaneously, of course, another question to 
be considered would be the right of the Jewish 
population of the Old City of Jerusalem who have 
all been driven from the Old City amidst the ruin 
and devastation of their Holy Places to return to 
a part of the city to which men of religious faith 
are particularly drawn by the countless links of 
history and religious sentiment. 

Our vision of the future programme, then, is 
this : first, that there should be an atmosphere at 
Lausanne of a discussion of a general peace settle
ment; second, that the most urgent point to be 
discussed against that background ·should be a 
solution of the refugee problem by evolving agreed 
solutions between Israel and the Arab States for 
the rehabilitation or repatriation or resettlement 
of agreed proportions of those peoples. Within 
the context of that second discussion, the problem 
which the representative of Lebanon has raised 
and the corresponding problem which I have raised 
should be capable of a satisfactory solution. 

Question: II me semble que le representant 
d'Israel n'a pas repondu a rna question. J'avais 
tout simp1ement demande si 1e Gouvernement 
d'Israe1 etait pret a s'engager a accepter les reso
lutions de 1' Assemblee generale a propos de la 
question de Jerusalem et toutes les modifications 
qui peuvent leur etre apportees a l'avenir, au cas 
ou les propositions presentees par le dit Gouvern
ment ace sujet ne seraient pas acceptees par l'As
semblee generale. 

Reponse: La reponse que je viens de faire cons
titue une reponse a la question qui vient d'etre 
posee. 

Question: J'ai d'autres questions a poser. En 
raison du caractere de la ville de Jerusalem et du 
droit que nous reclamons pour les chretiens et 
les musu1mans de resider dans cette ville, 1e repre
sentant d'Israel admet-il que, quelle que soit 1a so
lution que 1e Gouvernement d'Israe1 puisse propo
ser au prob1eme de J erusa1em, 1' on doit autoriser 
1es chretiens et 1es musu1mans qui resident dans 1a 
Ville neuve de J erusa1em depuis des generations et 
qui ont fui cette ville a 1a suite des hosti1ites, de 
rentrer dans leurs foyers dans la Ville neuve? 

Reponse: A mon avis, cette question fait par
tie du probleme general des refugies et, a ce pro
pos, je rappellerai brievement notre attitude a 
l'egard de ce probleme, attitude que j'ai exposee 
en detail hier. Nous estimons que des conversa
tions doivent s'engager immediatement a Lau
sanne entre taus les Gouvernements du Proche
Orient, en vue d'aboutir a un accord entre taus 
ces Gouvernements sur la reinstallation et le re
tour a Ia vie normale des refugies arabes en Israel 
et dans les autres pays du Proche-Orient. Cet 
accord doit faire partie de ce que 1a Commission 
de conciliation appelle "un programme de releve
ment et de reconstruction gener~le du Proche
Orient". 

II me semble que c'est sous cet aspect qu'il faut 
envisager le probleme du retour des anciens resi
dents de Jerusalem dans Ia ville. Le representant 
du Liban a insiste sur l'un des facteurs de ce pro
bleme, a savoir Ia question du retour dans leurs 
foyers des anciens residents arabes de quartiers 
tels que Qatamon, Bad'd superieur et les autres 
quartiers arabes de Ia Ville neuve de Jerusalem. 

I1 faudra evidemment examiner en meme temps 
une autre question - celle du droit de Ia popula
tion juive de Ia Ville vieille de Jerusalem, qui a 
ete chassee de cette ville alors que les lieux qui 
lui sont sacres etaient detruits et devastes, de 
revenir dans cette partie de la ville a laquelle les 
personnes qu'anime la foi sont particulierement 
attachees par des liens innombrables d'histoire et 
de religion. 

En bref, voici comment nous envisageons ce 
qu'il y a lieu de faire: premi'erement, l'on devra 
creer a Lausanne une atmosphere favorable a Ia 
discussion d'un reglement pacifique d'en!>emble; 
deuxiemement, une fois que cette atmosphere 
aura ete creee, il y aura lieu de rechercher par 
priorite une solution au probleme des refugies en 
s'effon;ant d'arriver a un accord entre Israe1 et les 
Etats arabes pour la reinstallation, le rapatriement 
ou le reetablissement des refugies selon des pour
centages etablis d'un commun accord par les Etats 
interesses. La discussion qui s'engagera a ce sujet 
permettra de trouver une solution satis£1 isante au 
probleme qu'a souleve le representant uu Liban 
et a celui que j'ai, a mon tour, soulevc a ce propos. 

256 



Question: Could I ask the representative of 
Israel how many Arabs now live in the New City 
of Jerusalem, which is under Israeli rule-that is, 
how many Christians and Moslems have remained 
from the original Christian and Moslem Arab 
population in the new city of Jerusalem ? 

Answer: I could obtain that information very 
quickly. I should like to say that the statistics 
on the refugee problem are notoriously fluid, that 
the general estimates of the number of Arab ref
ugees varies, in different sources, from 400,000 to 
1,000,000, and that presumably a similar disparity 
exists in the calculations of those who have fled 
from Jerusalem and those who have remained 
there. 

Nevertheless, although there has been, of course, 
no census since those convulsions took place, I 
shaH be prepared at an early stage to estimate our 
figures for the population of Jerusalem, both Jew
ish and Arab. 

Question: Another question: Have the people 
of Jerusalem-of the New City of Jerusalem-un
der Israeli rule taken part in the general elections 
of Israel? 

Answer: Yes, they have. Under every scheme 
ever put forward by anybody for the future of 
Jerusalem, the idea that the Jews of Jerusalem 
would be citizens of the State of Israel is invariably 
implicit. That is true even of the ambitious Statute 
called for in the resolution of 29 November 1947, 
which envisaged Jerusalem as a corpus separatum. 
Even the drastic degree of separation envisaged by 
that resolution did not deprive the Jews of J erusa
lem of citizenship in the State of Israel. 

Question: Could I ask how many representa
tives the inhabitants of the New City of Jerusalem 
have in the Israeli Assembly? 

Answer: I could obtain that information too. 
My general impression is that it is approximately 
twenty. 

Question: Are any of these representatives 
Arabs-either Christian or Moslem? 

Answer: There are Arab representatives of the 
population in the Knesseth, or the Israeli Parlia
ment ; as far as I know, none of them are from 
] erusalem. My information is that the Arabs of 
Jerusalem did not put up candidates for election 
to the Knesseth, although the main Arab concen
trations of population elsewhere did. 

Question: Could I ask whether it is correct to 
say that the Knesseth, or the Assembly of Israel, 
is a constituent assembly? 

Answer: The Constituent Assembly of the State 
of Israel, elected by popular suffrage two months 
ago, fulfills two purposes : first, it is called upon 
to formulate a written constitution and to define 
the prerogatives and functions of Israel's new insti
tutions; and secondly, until such time as a parlia
ment is elected, the Constituent Assembly exer
-cises legislative functions. 

Question: Puis-je demander au representant 
d'Israel com bien d' Arabes resident actuellement 
dans Ia Ville neuve de Jerusalem qui se trouve 
placee sous administration israelienne? Autrement 
dit, je voudrais savoir quel est le pourcentage de 
la population arabe, chretienne et musulmane de la 
Ville neuve de ] erusalem qui est restee dans cette 
ville. 

Reponse: J e pourrais me procurer ce renseigne
ment tres rapidement. J e voudrais ajouter que les 
statistiques en ce qui concerne les refugies chan
gent constamment, que les estimations du nombre 
de refugies arabes varient selon les sources de 
400.000 a 1.000.000. II est a presumer que la meme 
incertitude prevaut quant au nombre d'habitants 
de Jerusalem qui ont fui la ville et de ceux qui y 
sont restes. 

Evidemment, aucun recensement n'a ete opere 
depuis que ces graves evenements ont eu lieu. 
Neanmoins, je suis pret a fournir, dans un delai 
tres bref, nos chiffres relatifs a la population, tant 
juive qu'arabe, de Jerusalem. 

Question: J'ai une autre question a poser. La 
population de Jerusalem - je veux dire de Ia 
Ville neuve de Jerusalem - qui se trouve sous 
administration israelienne, a-t-elle pris part aux 
elections qui se sont deroulees en Israel? 

Reponse: Oui. Tous les plans qui ont ete pro
poses pour decider de l'avenir de Jerusalem, quelle 
qu'en soit l'origine, s'inspirent de l'idee implicite 
que les J uifs de Jerusalem seront citoyens de 
l'Etat d'Israel. C~la est vrai meme de l'ambitieux 
statut envisage dans Ia resolution du 29 novem
bre 1947, qui envisageait de constituer Jerusalem 
en un corpus separatum. Meme Ia separation ra
dicale qu'envisageait cette resolution ne devait 
pas priver les J uifs de Jerusalem de la qualite de 
citoyens de l'Etat d'Israel. 

Question: Puis-je demander combien de repre
sentants les habitants de la Ville neuve de J erusa
lem envoient a l' Assemblee israelienne? 

Reponse: Je pourrai egalement obtenir ces ren
seignements. J e pense qu'il doit y en a voir environ 
une vingtaine. 

Question: Y a-t-il parmi ces representants des 
Arabes, soit chretiens soit musulmans? 

Re ponse: II y a des representants arabes au 
Knesseth ou Parlement israelien; pour autant que 
je sache, aucun d'entre eux n'est de Jerusalem. 
D'apres ce que je sais, les Arabes de Jerusalem 
n'ont pas presente de candidats a !'election au 
Knesseth, bien que les principales communautes 
arabes l'aient fait en d'autres endroits. 

Question: Puis-je demander s'il est correct de 
dire que le Knesseth ou Assemblee d'Israel est 
une assemblee constituante? 

Reponse: L' Assemblee constituante de l'Etat 
d'Israel, elue au suffrage populaire il y a deux 
mois, a deux fonctions : premierement, elle doit 
rediger une constitution et definir les prerogatives 
et les attributions des nouvelles institutions d'Is
rael; deuxiemement, jusqu'a ce qu'un parlement 
soit elu, I' Assemblee constituante exerce le pou
voir legislatif. 

257 



Question: I should like to refer to a statement 
which the representative of Israel made yesterday, 
as follows :1 

"In concluding my observations on the Jerusa
lem problem, I find it necessary once again to 
emphasize that we uphold the necessity to which 
attention was drawn in the Pope's recent encycli
cal to ensure free access to the Holy Places, the 
security of Catholic and other Christian institu
tions, and to accept and encourage full interna
tional control for the protection and immunity of 
Holy Places. Everything in the policy which I 
have outlined on behalf of the Government of 
Israel conforms with the objectives contained m 
that important Papal pronouncement." 

I read today, in theN ew York Herald Tribune, 
a report on the conversation which took place 
between Dr. W eizmann and Cardinal Spellman. In 
that report it is stated : 

"Later in the day, the Very Rev. Francis ]. 
Murphy, secretary to Cardinal Spellman, said in 
a statement at the Cardinal's residence, 452 Madi
son A venue, that there is still a divergence of 
views which 'reaches matters fundamental, namely, 
whether internationalization as agreed upon among 
the United Nations will be effected or evaded'." 

Later on in that report I read : 

"The Cardinal stated that he was one of the 
bishops who, at the annual met1ing in Washing
ton, signed the statement asking that the inter
nationalization of Jerusalem as agreed on by the 
United Nations on 29 November 1947, and then 
accepted by the Zionists, be implemented. Dr. 
Weizmann stated that 'our aims in the Jerusalem 
question, though not identical, are neveJ,"theless 
reconcilable.' This is a confirmation by Dr. W eiz
mann himself of the fact that there is still existing 
a divergence of views. Unfortunately, this diver
gence reaches. matters fundamental, namely, 
whether internationalization as agreed upon among 
the United Nations will be effected or evaded.'' 

Does the representative of Israel still think that 
the policy which he has outlined on behalf of the 
Government of Israel conforms with the objectives 
contained in the important Papal pronouncement 
on Jerusalem, in view of the fact that the repre
sentatives· of the Catholic Church state that there 
are still fundamental differences ? 

Answer: I completely adhere to the view whicf1 
I expressed yesterday, which was. that the policy 
which I outlined on behalf of the Government of 
Israel conforms with the objectives contained in 
the Papal encyclical. Those objectives were: First, 
the guarantee of the protection and immunity of 
the Holy Places; secondly, the freedom of religious 
institutions to exercise their functions under ap
propriate guarantee; thirdly, a status for Jerusalem 
which in the existing circumstances would secure 
the immunity and protection of the Holy Places. 

1 The statement is quoted verbatim from the address de
livered by the representative of Israel at the 45th meeting. 

Question: Je voudrais rappeler une declaration 
que le representant d'Israel a faite hier. Le repre
sentant d'Israel a dit1 

: 

"En concluant mes observations sur le probleme 
de Jerusalem, j 'estime indispensable de souligner 
une fois de plus que nous admettons la necessite 
- sur laquelle la recente encyclique du Pape a 
attire !'attention - d'assnrer le libre acces aux 
Lieux saints et la securite des institutions catho
liques et des autres institutions chretiennes, d'ac
cepter et d'encourager un controle international 
etendu en ce qui concerne la protection et les pri
vileges des Lieux saints. Tout, dans la politique 
que je viens d'exposer au nom du Gouvernement 
d'Israel, est parfaitement conforme aux buts que 
fixe cette importante declaration du Pape.'' 

J e lis aujourd'hui, dans le New York Herald 
Tribune, un compte rendu de la conversation qui 
a eu lieu entre le Dr W eizmann et le cardinal 
Spellman. II est dit dans ce compte rendu : 

"Plus tard dans la journee, le Tres Reverend 
Francis J. Murphy, secretaire du cardinal Spell
man, a indique dans une declaration qu'il a faite 
a la residence du Cardinal, 452, Madison A venue, 
qu'il y a encore une divergence de vues ''portant 
sur des questions essentielles, en particulier la 
question de savoir si la decision concernant l'inter
nationalisation, dont les Nations Unies etaient con
venues, sera appliquee ou eludee". 

Plus loin, je lis encore dans ce compte rendu: 

"Le Cardinal a indique que, avec d'autres 
eveques, il avait signe, lors de la reunion annuelle 
a washington, la declaration demandant que soit 
mise en vigueur la decision concernant l'interna
tionalisation de Jerusalem dont les Nations U nies 
etaient convenues le 29 novembre 1947 et que les 
sionistes avaient alors acceptee. Le Dr W eizmann 
a declare : "nos buts, dans la question de J erusa
lem, ne sont pas les memes, mais ne sont pas, 
neanmoins, inconciliables.'' Le Dr W eizmann lui
meme confirme done qu'il existe encore des 
divergences de vues. Malheureusement, ces diver
gences de vues portent sur des questions essentiel
les, en particulier la question de savoir si la deci
sion concernant l'internationalisation, dont les 
Nations Unies etaient convenues, sera appliquee 
ou eludee." 

Le representant d'Israel pense-t-il toujours que 
Ia politique qu'il a exposee au nom du Gouverne
ment d'Israel est conforme aux buts que fixe l'im
portante declaration du Pape sur Jerusalem, etant 
donne que les representants de l'Eglise catholique 
declarent qu'il existe encore des divergences de 
vues sur des points essentiels ? 

Reponse: Je maintiens absolument !'opinion que 
j'ai exprimee bier et selon laquelle la politique que 
j'ai exposee au nom du Gouvernement d'Israel 
est conforme aux buts que fixe l'encyclique du 
Pape. Ces buts sont : premierement, des garanties 
concernant la protection et les privileges des Lieux 
saints ; deuxiemement, Ia liberte, pour les institu
tions religieuses, d'accomplir leur tache avec des 
garanties appropriees ; troisiemement, un statut 
de Jerusalem qui, dans les circoqstances actuelles, 
garantirait Ia protection et les privileges des 
Lieux saints. 

1 Traduction du compte rendu stl~nographique de Ia 
declaration faite par le representant d'lsrael a Ia 4Seme
seance. 

258. 



My Government alone of the Governments in 
the Near East, ani:l alone of the Governments in 
possession of the Holy Places, has given formal 
guarantee for the protection and security of the 
'Holy Places and for the acceptance of effective 
international safeguards and controls. My Govern-
ment alone of the Governments in Palestine in 
possession or occupation of religious institutions, 
hase given a formal guarantee in recent weeks for 
the freedom of those religious institutions to oper
ate under the direction of those who hold them 
sacred. 

Any juridical status for the City of Jerusalem 
that my Government advocates will" be such as 
would ensure the safeguarding, protection and 
immunity of the Holy Places, within the frame
work of what His Holiness, the Pope, called "ex
isting circumstances". Therefore, the answer to 
the operative part of the question of the repre
sentative of Lebanon is that we continue to see 
no incompatibility whatsoever between the objec
tives contained in the Papal pronouncement and 
the policy which my Government is advocating 
to the Conciliation Commission, and which I out
lined in this Committee yesterday. 

I am asked whether that view is affected by a 
statement appearing in the Press this morning. 
In the course of the very notable meeting between 
Cardinal Spellman and the President of Israel, 
which marks a kind of historic milestone in inter
religious amity, all those problems were frankly 
discussed. It is true-and I should like to say 
from the beginning that it was made clear to us 
on that occasion-that Cardinal Spellman did not 
claim that he could speak on behalf of or commit 
the Catholic Church. Therefore, any statements 
made on his behalf in the Press this morning can
not cancel out or alter the sense of the Papal 
encyclical. 

The fundamental divergence which still remains 
I think can be frankly stated. The Catholic lead
ers in this country, as evidenced by the resolution 
to which attention has been drawn, believe that 
the Statute for Jerusalem of 29 November 1947, 
with its police force, with its administrative re
gime, with its governor, with its full sovereignty, 
its responsibility to the Trusteeship Council, its 
direct responsibility for the maintenance of law 
and order and the direct administration of all 
services, is still capable of full implementation. 
The Government of Israel, on the other hand, be
lieves, for the reasons which I outlined yesterday, 
that that particular Statute for Jerusalem, with 
which my Government co-operated and which was 
resisted by violence arid force by the Governments 
of the Arab States, is no longer capable .of full 
implementation. The view that the Statute · of 
29 November was not capable of full and imme
diate implementation was upheld by the attitude of 
the majority of the Trusteeship Council, which 
found its implementation so difficult, if not im
possible, that it constantly refused to ratify that 
Statute or to present it for confirmation by the 
General Assembly. 

I outlined the sad history of the November 
Statute yesterday afternoon. I pointed out that 
my Government bears no responsibility for its 
failure, having co-operated both in the Commit
tee rooms of the General Assembly and on the 
scene itself with such efforts as were made-

Mon Gouvernement est le seul, parmi les Gou
vernements du Moyen-Orient et parmi taus les 
Gouvernements qui contr6lent les · Lieux saints, 
qui ait donne des garanties formelles concernant 
Ia protection et Ia securite des Lieux saints et con
cernant son acceptation d'une protection et d'un 
contr61e internationaux effectifs. Seul parmi les 
Gouvernements qui, en Palestine, assurent le con
tr61e ou le fonctionnement d'institutions religieu
ses, mon Gouvernement a, au cours de ces der
nieres semaines, formellement garanti a ces insti
tutions religieuses Ia liberte d'accomplir leurs 
taches sous Ia direction de ceux qui les reverent. 

Mon Gouvernement ne recommandera pour Ia 
Ville de Jerusalem aucun statut juridique qui ne 
garantirait pas Ia securite, Ia protection et les 
privileges des Lieux saints, dans le cadre de ce 
que Sa Saintete le Pape a appele "les circonstances 
actuelles". Par consequent, Ia reponse au fond de 
Ia question du representant du Liban est que nous 
continuous a ne voir aucune incompatibilite entre 
les buts que fixe la declaration du Pape et Ia po
litique que mon Gouvernement recommande de
vant Ia Commission de conciliation et que j'ai 
exposee hier devant Ia Commission politique spe
ciale. 

On me demande si cette opinion se trouve 
modifiee par une declaration parue ce matin dans 
Ia presse. Au cours de Ia tres importante entrevue 
entre le cardinal Spellman et le President d'Israei, 
entrevue qui marque une date dans l'histoire de 
l'amitie interconfessionnelle, tous ces problemes 
ont ete discutes avec beaucoup de franchise. II est 
vrai - et je tiens a dire des le debut qu'on nous 
l'a fait clairement comprendre en cette occasion
que le cardinal Spellman n'a pas dit qu'il pouvait 
parler au nom de l'Eglise catholique, ni que ses 
pamles engageaient l'Eglise. Par consequent, des 
declarations faites en son nom dans Ja presse de 
ce matin ne peuvent supprimer ou modifier le sens 
de l'encyclique du Pape. 

On peut exposer franchement, je crois, Ia di
vergence fondamentale qui subsiste encore. Les 
dirigeants catholiques de ce pays, comme le prouve 
Ia resolution sur laquelle on a attire !'attention, 
estiment que le Statut de Jerusalem, etabli le 29 
novembre 1947, avec sa police, son regime admi
nistratif, son gouverneur, sa pleine souverainete, 
sa responsabilite devant le Conseil de tutelle, sa 
responsabilite directe dans le maintien de l'ordre 
et de Ia loi et dans !'administration directe de tous 
les services, peut encore etre entierement mis en 
vigueur. Le Gouvernement d'Israel, par contre, 
estime, pour les raisons que j'ai exposees hier, que 
ce Statut particulier de Jerusalem, a I' elaboration 
duquel mon Gouvernement a coopere et auquel 
les Gouvernements des Etats arabes ont resiste 
par Ia violence et par la force, ne peut plus etre 
entierement mis en vigueur. L'opinion selon 
laquelle le Statut du 29 novembre ne peut etre mis 
en vigueur ni entierement ni immediatement, a ete 
confirmee,par !'attitude de Ia majorite du Conseil 
de tutelle, qui a trouve sa mise en vigueur ma
laisee, pour ne pas dire impossible, et qui a cons
tamment refuse de ratifier le Statut ou de le pre
senter pour approbation a I' Assemblee general e. 

J'ai expose hier apres-midi Ia triste histoire du 
Statut de novembre, j'ai fait remarquer que mon 
Gouvernement n'a aucune responsabilite dans son 
echec, puisqu'il a coopere, aussi bien dans les sal
les de commission de I' Assemblee generale que 
sur place, aux quelques efforts que !'on faisait 

259 



feeble efforts, but such efforts as were made-to 
put it into effect, while Arab Governments op
posed it parliamentarily, as was their right, and 
also opposed it by avowed force. 

I therefore deduce the view that if we now 
wish to apply the international principle to J erusa
lem, as we do, we must think about the matter 
anew, and see how the international principle can 
best be applied to the existing conditions, in which 
some of the main factors are : 

1. The apparent incapacity or unwillingness of 
the United Nations to undertake a large military, 
financial and administrative commitment ; 

2. The fact that the undertaking of such a large 
financial, military and administrative commitment 
is no longer necessary, since the pattern of order 
has been restored under the existing administra
tion in the two parts of the City ; 

3. The necessity, as the result of those condi
tions, to find an international regime which con
fines itself to the main purpose of the universal 
interest; namely, the protection of the Holy Places, 
the safeguarding of sacred shrines, and the obtain
ing from the Governments concerned of appro
priate guarantees for the freedom of religious 
institutions. 

Question: I should like to ask a further question 
of the representative of Israel. 

There have been many reports-authoritative 
reports-by representatives of the churches in 
Palestine and their clergymen, of attack-s and ag
gressive acts against the Holy Places in Palestine 
made by the forces or authorities of Israel. May 
I ask the representative of Israel whether these 
reports are true, and what possible reason there 
could have been for such attacks upon and occu
pation of the Holy Places? 

Answer: I am extremely glad to have an oppor
tunity of answering that question, because, in an 
effort to avoid undue controversy, I omitted a 
reference to this issue in my address to this Com·
mittee yesterday afternoon. 

The Holy Places became involved in devasta
tion and sacrilege for one reason alone; namely, 
because war broke out in Palestine. Those who 
chose and initiated that war are responsible, there
fore, for the entire sequence of bloodshed, destruc
tion and sacrilege that emanated from their 
choice. 

In the course of that war the forces on both 
sides, caught in the converging fire of their ene
mies, inflicted damage on some of the Holy 
Places. The Holy Places first became a scene of 
war because the command of the Arab rebellion 
in Jerusalem was established five or six days after 
the 29 November resolution in the Holy City itself. 
I circulated to the Security Council at the time 
portraits from Arab newspapers showing a pic
turesque gentleman called Sheikh Y essin El 
Bakhri directing fire from the Sacred Wall itself. 

Many representatives here may have experience 
of war, and of the ways of soldiers in places which 
they occupy. Holy Places which come under mili-

pour le mettre a execution - efforts minimes, mais 
efforts quand meme - tandis que les Gouverne
ments arabes s'y opposaient par la voie parlemen
taire, comme c'etait leur droit, mais aussi, et ou
vertement, par la force. 

]'en deduis done que si nous desirons main te
nant donner a Jerusalem un statut international. 
comme c' est le cas, nous devons nous en faire une 
conception nouvelle et voir de quelle fa<;on on 
pourrait le mieux appliquer le principe de l'inter
nationalite aux conditions actuelles, dont les prin
cipales caracteristiques sont les suivantes : 

1. Le fait que !'Organisation des Nations Unies 
est apparemment incapable et peu desireuse d'as
sumer une large responsabilite militaire, financiere 
et administrative. 

2. Le fait qu'une entreprise financiere, militaire 
et administrative d'une telle ampleur n'est plus 
necessaire, puisque l'ordre a ete retabli dans les 
deux parties de la ville par !'administration ac
tuelle. 

3. La necessite, en consequence, de definir un 
regime international limite aux buts qui repondent 
a des interets universels, a savoir la protection des 
Lieux saints, la sauvegarde des sanctuaires et les 
garanties appropriees a obtenir des Gouverne
ments interesses, en ce qui concerne la liberte des 
institutions religieuses. 

Question: Je voudrais poser encore une ques
tion au representant d'Israel. 

De nombreuses informations - des informa
tions autorisees - emanant de representants des 
Eglises de Palestine et de leur clerge rapportent 
des attaques et des actes d'agression commis con
tre les Lieux saints de Palestine par les forces et 
les autorites d'Israel. Puis-je demander au repre
sentant d'Israel si ces rapports sont veridiques 
et quelle raison il peut y avoir pour que les Lieux 
saints aient ete ainsi attaques et occupes. 

Reponse: Je suis extremement heureux de !'oc
casion qui m'est fournie de repondre sur ce point, 
car, afin d'eviter une controverse inutile, je n'y 
ai pas fait allusion au cours de mon allocution 
d'hier apres-midi. 

Les Lieux saints ont ete soumis a Ia devastation 
et au sacrilege pour la seule raison que la guerre 
a eclate en Palestine. Ceux qui ont decide et 
declenche cette guerre sont done responsables des 
massacres, des destructions et des sacrileges qu'a 
provoques leurs decision. 

Au cours de cette guerre, les armees des deux 
parties, exposees aux feux convergents de leurs 
ennemis, ont inflige des dommages a certains des 
Lieux saints. Si les Lieux saints sont devenus un 
theatre de guerre, c'est d'abord parce que le com
mandement de la rebellion arabe a Jerusalem s'est 
etabli, cinq ou six jours apres !'adoption de la 
resolution du 29 novembre, dans Ia Ville sainte 
elle-meme. J'ai transmis, a l'epoque, au Conseil 
de securite des photographies parues dans les 
journaux arabes oil l'on voyait un personnage pit
toresque, du nom de Cheikh Y essin El Bakhri, en 
train de diriger le feu du haut du Mur sacre. 

N ombre de representants, ici meme, ont une 
experience de la guerre et de Ia fa<;on dont se 
conduisent les soldats dans les lieux qu'ils occu-

260 



tary occupation suffered the fate of buildings which 
come under the occupation of soldiers. All that 
a responsible Government could do was to tighten 
up military authority and to inflict the penalties 
appropriate for such damage as was inflicted upon 
the Holy Places. 

The practice of occupying religious buildings 
as the first vantage points of attack was begun, as 
1 said, by Arab forces in the Old City which have 
always occupied and maintained the greater part 
of the Holy Places in Jerusalem. 

1Iy Government rejoices that despite this savage 
and unnecessary warfare, most of the sacred 
shrines and buildings of Christianity and Islam 
have emerged relatively unscathed from this con
flict. My Government feels very strongly on this 
matter because, on the other hand, all of the 
Jewish Holy Places in Jerusalem lie in ruins, with 
the happy exception of the historic Wailing Wall 
~o which access has been debarred to Jewish 
worshippers in violation of successive resolutions 
of the Security Council, and to which access has 
been barred to this day. I believe that the only 
case in which access to a holy shrine has not 
been opened for its worshippers is the access by 
Jewish worshippers to the Wailing Wall in the 
Old City of Jerusalem. 

My Government received from representatives 
of religious institutions complaints-many of them 
justifiaole-on the action of troops in occupation 
of buildings. We therefore embarked upon a policy 
of first punishing and then restraining such vio
lations. As one goes about-especially in Galilee 
and in Nazareth which I visited just a few weeks 
ago-" out of bounds" signs and orders appear 
on nearly every building of religious significance. 

The deep apprectatwn of the Catholic Church 
for the action taken by the Government of Israel 
in this matter has been placed formally on record 
in written statements, first by Monsignor V er
gani, the Vicar General for Galilee, in a letter 
to the Israeli Minister of Religion, and secondly 
and more recently, in a reference to this question 
by Monsignor McMahon, who visited Palestine 
recently and who testifies in a publication which 
might be available to members of this Committee, 
to the high sense of religious duty and responsi
bility which he found amongst the officials of the 
Israeli Minister of Religion. 

Question: I reserve the right to comment on 
this reply and to give the Committee authoritative 
reports of what really happened to the Holy Places 
in Palestine. 

I have one question regarding the problem of 
the repatriation of refugees. 

_ The representative of Isra~l referred to the 
statement of Mr. Ben-Gurion on this question to 
the United Nations Conciliation Commission as 
reported in the second progress report. I should 
like to read from paragraph 26 of that report, the 
last sentence of which says: 

"Mr. Ben-Gurion did not exclude the possi
bility of acceptance for repatriation of a limited 

261 

pent. Les Lieux saints, une fois soumis a !'occu
pation militaire, ont connu le sort de tous les ba
timents occupes par des soldats. Tout ce qu'un 
gouvernement responsable pouvait faire, c'etait de 
renforcer l'autorite militaire et d'infliger a tous 
ceux qui endommageaient les Lieux saints le cha
timent qui s'imposait. 

La pratique qui consiste a occuper les edifices 
religieux comme point de depart des attaques a 
ete inauguree, comme je l'ai dit, par les forces 
arabes de la Ville vieille, qui ont occupe la plu
part des Lieux saints dans Ia Yille de Jerusalem 
et s'y sont toujours maintenus. 

Mon Gouvernement se felicite qu'en depit de 
cette guerre, aussi sauvage qu'inutile, Ia plupart 
des sanctuaires et des edifices religieux chretiens 
et islamiques soient sortis relativement intacts du 
conflit. Mon Gouvernement est d'autant plus emu 
de ces devastations que tous les Lieux saints juifs 
de la Ville de Jerusalem sont aujourd'hui en rui
nes, a !'exception, heureusement, du Mur histo
rique des lamentations, dont pourtant les fideles 
juifs se sont vu refuser l'acces, en violation des 
resolutions successives du Conseil de securite, et 
auquel, encore maintenant, il leur est interdit de 
se rendre. J e crois que le seul sanctuaire ou les 
fideles n'aient pas de nouveau acces est le Mur 
des lamentations, dans Ia Ville vieille de J eru
salem. 

Les representants des diverses institutions reli
gieuses ont transmis a mon Gouvernement des 
plaintes, dont beaucoup etaient justifiees, au sujet 
des degats commis par les troupes lors de !'occu
pation des edifices. N ous avons alors adopte une 
politique qui a consiste d'abord a punir, puis a pre
venir ces violations. Lorsque l'on parcourt les rues 
specialement en Galilee et a Nazareth, ou je me 
trouvais il y a quelques semaines seulement - on 
voit sur presque tous les edifices presentant un 
interet religieux des ecriteaux qui en interdisent 
l'acces a la troupe. 

La profonde reconnaissance de l'Eglise catho
lique pour les mesures prises par le Gouvernement 
d 'Israel en Ia matiere a ete officiellement expri
mee, d'abord par monseigneur Vergani, Vicaire 
general pour Ia Galilee, dans une lettre au Minis
tre des cultes d'Israel, et, plus recemment, par 
monseigneur McMahon qui, apres son recent 
voyage en Palestine, a rendu hommage, dans une 
publication que tous les membres de Ia Commis
sion peuvent se procurer, au sens e!eve qu'ont de 
leur devoir religieux et de leurs responsabilites 
les fonctionnaires du Ministere des cultes d'Israd. 

Question: Je me reserve le droit de commenter 
cette reponse et de fournir a Ia Commission des 
informations autorisees sur ce qui s'est passe 
reellement dans les Lieux saints de Palestine. 

J e voudrais poser une question concernant le 
probleme du rapatriement des refugies. 

Le representant d'Israel a rappele la declara
tion faite a ce sujet par M. Ben-Gurion devant la 
Commission de conciliation des Nations U nies 
telle qu'on Ia trouve reproduite dans le deuxieme 
rapport de cette derniere. J e me permettrai de lire 
la deuxieme phrase du paragraphe 26 de ce rap
port qui dit : 

''M._ Ben-Gurion n'a pas exclu la possibilite 
d'accepter le rapatriement d'tm nombre limite de 



number of Arab refugees, but he made it clear that 
the Government of Israel considered that the real 
solution of the major part of the refugee question 
lay in the resettlement of refugees in Arab States." 

Could the representative of Israel give the Com
mittee an idea of the meaning of the expression 
"a limited number of Arab refugees"? Could he 
give any figure to indicate the extent of that 
"limited number of Arab refugees"? 

Answer: It was because of certain ambiguities 
which have been ascribed to our position in this 
matter that I made a statement on our refugee 
position to this Committee yesterday, adding that 
that statement alone may be taken as an authori
tative source as to my Government's attitude on 
this question. I think we could easily describe the 
summary of that statement in very simple terms. 
Our understanding is that, of these refugees, some 
will be repatriated, some will be resettled, but 
there exists, amongst different observers, different 
degrees of emphasis upon these two principles. 
For instance, I quoted Mr. Ben-Gurion's view 
that in the interests of democratic unity, the 
avoidance of minority problems and the greater 
welfare of populations which live under their own 
forms of society, religion and culture, we believe 
that the resettlement in neighbouring areas 
would offer a more rational solution and a solution 
more compatible with long-term harmony of the 
Near East. 

I quoted a view of the Conciliation Commission 
which also gives greater authority to the view that 
this question can be settled only as part of a 
general programme of rehabilitation in the Near 
East. The Commission's actual words were: "In 
the long run, the final solution of the problem 
will be found within the framework of the eco
nomic and social rehabilitation of all the countries 
in the Near East". I associated my Government 
with that general approach. 

On the other hand, I quoted other statements, 
notably that of Lord Henderson on behalf of the 
Government of the United Kingdom, which placed 
the entire emphasis in favour of a solution resting 
on the working out of new schemes of irrigation 
and development in J ezirah, in the Jordan valley 
and in the valley of the Euphrates. 

The exact balance and proportion between those 
who are rehabilitated under any of these schemes 
and who will find themselves in the territory of 
Israel, and those who will find themselves in the 
territory of the Arab States, is a question on 
which we seek agreement at Lausanne, agree
ment between Israel and the Arab Governments 
concerned on the one hand, and the agreement 
of the international community to assist all Gov
ernments, on the other hand. 

If we were now in Lausanne-where I should 
have been but for the delays here-I should be 
prepared to become more specific. We are entering 
upon a process of negotiation from which is in
separable an attitude of bargaining. The impres
sion we received from the representative of 
Lebanon yesterday was that he thought that the 
Arab States should be called upon for no contri
bution at all in the resettlement and rehabilitation 
of these people and that the entire burden should 

refugies arabes mais il a fait cla1rement compren
dre que le Gouvernement d'Israel estimait que la 
vraie solution du probleme essentiel des refugies 
se trouvait dans la reinstallation des rdugies dans 
les Etats arabes." 

Le representant d'Israel pourrait-il donner a la 
Commission une idee du sens de !'expression ''un 
nombre limite de refugies arabes"? Pourrait-il 
donner un chiffre indiquant l'etendue de ce "nom
bre limite de refugies arabes" ? 

Reponse: C'est precisement en raison de cer
taines accusations d'ambigulte dont notre posi
tion en la matiere a fait !'objet que j'ai fait hier 
devant la Commission une declaration sur notre 
attitude a l'egard des refugies, ajoutant que seule 
cette declaration peut etre consideree comme tra
duisant officiellement !'attitude de mon Gouverne
ment a ce sujet. J e crois que je pourrai aisement 
resumer rna declaration en termes tres simples. 
Parmi ces refugies, a notre sens, certains seront 
rapatries, certains seront reinstalles ; mais certains 
observateurs insistent plus que d'autres sur l'un 
ou !'autre de ces procedes. ]'ai cite, par exemple, 
!'opinion de M. Ben-Gurion selon laquelle, dans 
!'interet de !'unite democratique, afin d'eviter les 
problemes de minorites, et _afin de favoriser le 
bien-etre des populations qui se conforment a no
tre conception de Ia societe, de Ia religion et de la 
culture, nous estimons que la reinstallation dans 
des regions voisines constituerait une solution 
plus rationnelle et plus compatible avec l'etablisse
ment d'une harmonie durable dans le Proche
Orient. 

J'ai egalement cite !'opinion de Ia Commission 
de conciliation qui confirme que cette question ne 
peut etre reglee que dans le cadre d'un programme 
general de relevement dans le Proche-Orient. La 
Commission dit exactement: "A Ia longue, le 
probleme trouvera sa solution definitive dans le 
cadre du relevement economique et social de !'en
semble des pays du Proche-Orient." J'ai associe 
mon Gouvernement a cette conception generale. 

D'autre part, j'ai cite d'autres declarations, en 
particulier celle de lord Henderson qui, au nom 
du Gouvernement du Royaume-Uni, s'est pro
nonce entierement en faveur d'une solution qui 
comporterait la realisation d'un nouveau plan d'ir
rigation et de developpement a J ezirah, dans la 
vallee du Jourdain et dans Ia vallee de l'Euphrate. 

Quant a la proportion exacte entre ceux des 
refugies qui, reinstalles conformement a l'un de 
ces plans, trouveront finalement place sur le ter
ritoire d'Israel et ceux qui se trouveront sur le 
territoire des Etats arabes, c'est la une question 
sur laquelle nous cherchons a realiser un accord a 
Lausanne, d'une part, entre Israel et les Gouver
nements arabes interesses, d'autre part au sein de 
la communaute internationale, a laquelle il appar
tiendra d'assister tous les Gouvernements. 

Si nous etions <j.Ctuellement a Lausanne, ou je 
me trouverais si des retards ne m'avaient pas 
retenu ici, je serais en mesure de faire des propo
sitions plus concretes. N ous entrons actuellement 
dans un stade de negociation ou 1' emploi de pro
cedes de marchandage est inevitable. L'interven
tion du representant du Liban a la seance d'hier 
nous donne !'impression qu'il estime que les Etats 
arabes ne devront apporter aucune contribution a 
Ia reinstallation et au relevement de ces refugies et 

262 



fall upon the Government of Israel alone, irrespec
tive of the fact that the refugee problem is a 
product of war launched and initiated by the 
Arab States. Well, we shall have to meet some
where in the middle. That is why the negotiation 
process is being carried on. 

My Government believes that just as intricate 
military conflicts have responded to the processes 
of direct negotiation, so these other problems, 
including the problems of boundaries and refugee 
resettlement, can respond to those same processes 
and will respond to them more fully if the parties 
face each other upon an equal status of privilege 
and responsibility. 

Question: With regard to the reply of the repre
sentative of Israel, I note that no clarification was 
given as to the meaning of the statement that 
"a limited number of Arab refugees" will be al
lowed to return to their homes, so I should like 
to put the question differently. From Mr. Ben
Gurion's statement, which I read in the second 
progress report of the Conciliation Commission 
and which says " ... he made it clear that the Gov
ernment of Israel considered that the real solution 
of the major part of the refugee question lay in 
the resettlement of refugees in Arab States", am 
I not right in concluding tnat the Government of 
Israel considers that the majority of the Arab 
refugees shoulld be resettled in Arab States? 

Answer: That is another way of asking me for 
a figure. I do not know how many refugees there 
are altogether. Our idea is that the number of one 
million is grossly exaggerated. The population of 
Palestine under the Mandate was, at its peak, 
estimated at 1,200,000. In the course of discussions 
between the Mandatory Power and ourselves in 
Geneva last year, the Government statistician of 
the Mandatory Power indicated that there would 
be a possibility of exaggeration which might reach 
as much as 20 per cent. We thought that the 
degree of exaggeration would be larger, but that 
would leave a figure of one million for the total 
Arab population of Palestine at that time. 

If one totals at this stage the number of Arabs 
in the Israeli-occupied areas and the number of 
Arabs in Palestinian territory outside Israeli con
trol, one can account for 500,000 to 600,000 
Arabs. This and other criteria give us the idea 
that the number of Arab refugees outside Pales
tine is not very much more than half a million. 
Whether the proportion of those who, as a result 
of Arab-Jewish agreement and international rati
fication, come back, as distinct from those who are 
eligible for resettlement and compensation, forms 
the majority or the minority does not seem to 
be a material point. The essence of this question 
is to get a settlement in such conditions as will 
assure the peace and welfare of these people and 
their integration into a stable Near East. Peace 
and stability are the objectives, not the mechanical 
application of any particular formula. We have 
been in contact with certain Arab Governments 
-contacts going beyond the discussion of armis
tice problems-and we find amongst some of them 

263 

que c'est le Gouvernement d'Israel qui aura seul 
a en supporter toute la charge, bien que le pro
bleme des refugies soit un n!sultat de la guerre 
declenchee par les Etats arabes. N ous devrons, 
sans doute, nous rencontrer plus ou moins a mi
chemin. C'est la l'objet meme des negociations. 

Mon Gouvernement estime que de meme que 
des conflits compliques d' ordre militaire ont pu 
etre regles par des negociations directes, les autres 
problemes, y compris les problemes de frontieres 
et de reinstallation des refugies, pourront etre 
regles de la meme fa<;on, et plus facilement si les 
deux parties interessees se rencontrent sur un 
pied d'egalite avec les memes droits et les memes 
responsabilites. 

Question: J e remarque dans !a reponse du re
presentant d'Israel, il n'a ete donne aucune pre
cision sur le sens qu'il faut donner a Ia declara
tion selon laquelle "un nombre limite de refugies 
arabes" seront autorises a rentrer dans leur fo
yers; je vais done poser Ia question d'une fa<;on 
differente. La declaration de M. Ben-Gurion, que 
j'ai tiree du deuxieme rapport de Ia Commission 
de conciliation, se lit comme suit : '' ... il a laisse 
differente. La declaration de M. Ben-Gurion, que 
la vraie solution du probleme essentiel des refugies 
se trouve dans !a reinstallation des refugies dans 
les Etats arabes"; ai-je raison d'en conclure que 
le Gouvernement d'Israel estime qu'en majorite, 
les refugies arabes doivent etre reinstalles dans les 
Etats arabes? 

Reponse: C'est la une autre fa<;on de me de
mander des chiffres. ]'ignore que! est le nombre 
total des refugies. Le chiffre d'un million nous 
semble fortement exagere. La population de la 
Palestine, a l'epoque du Mandat, a ete estimee, 
lorsqu'elle a atteint le chiffre le plus eleve, a 
1.200.000 d'habitants. Au cours des discussions qui 
se sont deroulees a Geneve, l'annee derniere, entre 
la Puissance mandataire et nous-memes, le sta
tisticien du Gouvernement de la puissance manda
taire a indique que cette estimation comportait 
peut-etre une exageration pouvant s'elever jusqu'a 
20 pour 100. A notre avis, l'exageration serait 
encore plus grande; mais, meme si !'on s'en tient 
a !'opinion de !'expert, le chiffre total de la popu
lation arabe de Palestine n'aurait pas depasse, a 
cette epoque, un million. 

Si !'on ajoute actuellement aux Arabes qui se 
trouvent dans les territoires occupes par Israel 
ceux qui resident dans la partie du territoire de la 
Palestine qui n'est pas sous le controle des auto
rites israeliennes, on arrive a un total d'environ 
500.000 a 600.000. Ces donnees et quelques autres 
nous permettent d'estimer que le nombre total de 
refugies arabes qui ont fui la Palestine ne doit pas 
etre sensiblement superieur a un demi-million. La 
question de savoir si le chiffre des refugies qui, 
a la suite d'un accord entre Juifs et Arabes et de 
sa ratification par les autorites internationales, 
pourront revenir, sera superieur ou inferieur au 
chiffre de ceux qui seront reinstalles et recevront 
des compensations, ne semble pas constituer un 
point important. Ce qui importe essentiellement, 
c'est d'obtenir un accord dans des conditions qui 
assureront le bien-etre de ces populations et l~ur 
integration pacifique dans un Proche-Orient sta
bilise. Les objectifs essentiels sont la paix et la 
stabi1ite et non !'application mecanique d'une for-



a realization that Arab Governments can justly 
be called upon to take a share in this programme. 

What we then aspire to achieve at Lausanne 
is an agreed programme in detail, and perhaps 
even in mathematical terms, for the resettlement 
of Arab refugees in relation to the entire back
ground of the Near East. 

Question: Without entering into a discussion 
of the figures which were given by the represen
tative of Israel, I should like to ask him whether, 
in view of what he said and what the policy of 
the Government of Israel is, it is not correct to 
say that the Government of Israel rejects para
graph 11 of resolution 194 (III) of the General 
Assembly of 11 December 1948, which says that 
the Assembly: 

"Resolves that the refugees wishing to return 
to their homes and live at peace with their neigh
bours should be permitted to do so at the earliest 
practicable date ... " 

I do not wish to go on and ask about the ques
tion of compensation ; I am now asking about the 
return of the refugees to their homes. Let us 
suppose thatt here are 400,000 refugees wishing o 
return to their homes and to live in peace with 
their neighbours. According to the resolution of 
the General Assembly of 11 December 1948, 
these 400,000 refugees should be permitted to go 
back to their homes to live at peace with their 
neighbours "at the earliest practicable date" if 
they wish to go back home and live at peace with 
their neighbours. Do not the statements of the 
Government of Israel and of its representatives 
mean a rejection of this paragraph 11 of the Gen
eral Assembly resolution of 11 December 1948? 

Answer: No, my Government does not reject 
that or any other paragraph of the General As
sembly resolution of 11 December. As the report 
of the Conciliation Commission itself makes clear, 
the return of Arab refugees is conditioned by 
two over-riding considerations: first, the existence 
of peaceful conditions, for otherwise the whole 
criterion of living in peace with their neighbours 
would not arise; and secondly, practicability, "at 
the earliest practicable date". 

'"In Mr. Ben-Gurion's view", said the Concilia
tion Commission, ''this passage made the possi
bility of the return of the refugees to their homes 
contingent, so to speak, on the establishment of 
peace"; and, later: '"Mr. Ben-Gurion told the 
Commission that the Government of Israel con
sidered the refugee question as one of those which 
should be examined and solved during the general 
negotiations for the establishment of peace in 
Palestine". 

The exact number of refugees, who wish to 
return ; who wish to live at peace with their 
neighbours, and who can go back at a practicable 
date-all that is a matter to be discovered, as 
the Commission itself points out in another para-

mule quelconque. N ous sommes entn!s en contact 
avec certains Gouvernements arabes - ces con
tacts sont alles au dela de la discussion des pro
blemes poses par les armistices - et nous avons 
trouve que certains d'entre eux se rendent compte 
qu'il est juste que les Gouvernements arabes sup
portent une partie des frais resultant de ce pro
gramme. 

Ce que nous desirous, c'est aboutir a Lausanne 
a un accord sur un programme detaille, et peut
etre meme contenant des estimations chiffrees pour 
la reinstallation des refugies arabes dans le cadre 
du Proche-Orient tout entier. 

Question: Sans discuter les chiffres qui ont ete 
produits par le representant d'Israel, j'aimerais 
lui demander si on peut conclure, de ce qu'il 
vient de dire et ~e la politique suivie par le Gou
vernement d'Israel, que ce Gouvernement rejette 
le paragraphe 11 de la resolution 194 (III) de 
1' Assemblee generale en date du 11 novembre 
1948, qui dit que l'Assemblee: 

"Decide qu'il y a lieu de permettre aux refu
gies qui le desirent, de rentrer dans leurs foyers 
le plus tot possible, et de vivre en paix avec leurs 
voisins, ... " 

Je ne desire pas soulever la question de com
pensation. ]'envisage actuellement la question du 
retour des refugies dans leurs foyers. Supposons 
qu'il y ait 400.000 refugies qui desirent rentrer 
dans leurs foyers et vivre en paix avec leurs voi
sins. Conformement a la resolution de 1' Assem
blee generale du 11 decembre 1948, ces 400.000 
refugies doivent etre autorises a rentrer "le plus 
tot possible" dans leurs foyers ( s'ils desirent ren
trer et vivre en paix avec leurs voisins). Les de
clarations du Gouvernement d'Israel et de ses 
representants ne constituent-elles pas un rejet de 
ce paragraphe 11 de la resolution de I' Assemblee 
du 11 decembre 1948? 

Rcponse: Non; mon Gouvernement ne rejette 
ni ce paragraphe, ni aucun autre paragraphe de 
la resolution de 1' Assemblee generale du 11 de
cem!o>re. Comme l'indique clairement le rapport 
de la Commission de conciliation, le retour des 
refugies arabes est subordonne a deux considera
tions essentielles: tout d'abord I' existence de con
ditions de paix, car autrement le critere de vivre 
en paix avec leurs voisins ne saurait s'appliquer; 
en second lieu, les possibilites pratiques, ce qui 
est sous-entendu dans !'expression "le plus tot 
possible". 

La Commission de conciliation dit, dans son 
rapport, que "pour M. Ben-Gurion, ce passage 
signifie que la possibilite d'un retour des refugies 
dans leurs foyers depend de l'etablissement de la 
paix"; ce rapport dit plus loin que "M. Ben
Gurion avait declare a la Commission que le 
Gouvernement d'Israel estimait que la question 
des refugies etait l'une de celles qui devaient etre 
etudiees et resolues au cours des negociations 
generales pour le retablissement de la paix en 
Palestine". 

Le nombre exact des refugies qui tiennent a 
rentrer dans leurs foyers, qui desirent vivre en 
paix avec leurs voisins, et qui peuvent revenir a 
une date rapprochee, tout cela reste a determiner, 
comme la Commission elle-meme le fait remarquer 

264 



graph of its report. The Commission reports as 
follows: 

"The Commission is of the opinion that, in the 
first place, granted the principle of return is ac
cepted, it would nevertheless be wise to take ac
count of the possibility that not all the refugees 
will decide to return to their homes. Therefore, 
it will be necessary to obtain an agreement in 
principle by the Arab States to the resettlement 
of those refugees who do not desire. to return 
to their homes". 

At a further stage, the Commission went on to 
report : "The refugees must be fully informed of 
the conditions under which they are to return, 
in particular of the obligations they might incur, 
as well as of the rights that would be guaranteed 
to them". 

In paragraph 13, which is the crucial one in this 
respect and which points out .that one cannot 
light-heartedly now embark upon mathematical 
formulae, the Commission reports: "Neither re
patriation to Israel, nor resettlement in Arab 
territories" notice that the Commission· envisage 
both possibilities as legitimate : neither of these 
two '~can be carried out in satisfactory conditions 
without a considerable amount of preparatory work 
of a technical nature". It will be necessary first 
to establish the most exact figures possible as to 
the number of actual refugees, that is to say, per
sons who have fled from Israel-controlled territory. 

Some sort of consultations will then be required, 
and this will probably be the most delicate and 
difficult task of all in order to ascertain which 
refugees would prefer to be repatriated to Israel, 
and which would wish to be resettled in an Arab 
country. Finally, both repatriation to Israel and 
resettlement in Arab territory must be preceded 
by considerable preparatory work of an economic, 
social and financial character, for which purpose 
the Commission contemplates the creation of a 
technical committee. 

From this, perhaps the Committee might de
duce how unrealistic it would be for us, round 
this table, to presume to reach a specific solution 
of these problems or to bind ourselves in advance 
to any mathematical proportions in relation to 
a problem the intricacy and unclarity of which 
the Commission itself is at pains to underline. 

Question: I referred only to paragraph 11 of 
the General Assembly resolution of 11 December. 
I did not go into the discussion of how many 
refugees would like to go home and live at peace 
with their neighbours ; that is beside the point. 
Granted that all the things which 'the representa
tive of Israel said have to be done are done, and 
that a certain number of refugees wish to return 
to their homes and live at peace with their neigh
bours, is the Government of Israel prepared now 
to undertake to accept that number and to allow 
them to go back to their homes? 

Answer: The number itself will affect the pros
pects of peace and the criterion of practicability 
which the General Assembly accepted. If there 
is a General Assembly resolution, it cannot be 

265 

dans un autre paragraphe de son rapport. V oici 
ce que dit un passage du rapport de la Commis
sion: 

"La Commission est d'avis, tout d'abord, que, 
le principe du retour etant accepte, il est nean
moins sage de prevoir le cas ou une partie des 
refugies decidera de ne pas rentrer. II faudra done 
prevoir un engagement de principe de la part des 
Etats arabes d'accepter la reinstallation de ceux, 
parmi les refugies, qui ne desireraient pas rentrer 
dans leurs foyers". 

U n peu plus loin, le rapport de Ia Commission 
dit ce qui suit: "Les refugies devront etre infor
mes d'une maniere complete au sujet des condi
tions dans lesquelles leur retour pourra avoir lieu, 
en particulier, des obligations que leur retour im
plique et des droits qui leur seront garantis". 

Le paragraphe 13, qui est le paragraphe le plus 
important dans cet ordre d'idees et qui fait re
marquer que l'on ne saurait se lancer a la Iegere 
dans des formules mathematiques, declare : "Le 
rapatriement en Israel, aussi bien que la reinstal
lation dans !es territoires arabes" - je vous prie 
de remarquer, en passant, que la Commission con
sidere chacune de. ces deux possibilites comme 
legitime - "ne pourront se faire dans de bonnes 
conditions sans un grand travail preparatoire de 
caractere technique". II sera necessaire, tout 
d'abord, de preciser avec autant d'exactitude que 
possible le nombre de refugies proprement dit, 
c'est-a-dire ceux qui ont fui le territoire qui se 
trouve sous l'autorite d'Israel. 

II s'agira ensuite de proceder a une sorte de 
consultation - et ceci sera probablement la tache 
la plus difficile et Ia plus delicate - afin de savoir 
quels sont les refugies qui desireraient etre rapa
tries en Israel ou installt~s dans un pays arahe. 
Enfin, le rapatriement en Israel et la reinstallation 
en territoire arabe devront etre precedes de tra
vaux preparatoires considerables, de caractere 
economique, social et financier - ce qui a amene 
la Commission a envisager Ia creation d'un comite 
technique. 

De tout ce qui precede, il devrait apparaitre a 
Ia Commission politique combien il serait uta
pique pour nous, qui sommes reunis autour de 
cette table, de pretendre fournir une solution pre
cise de ces problemes ou de nous attacher par 
avance a des proportions mathematiques quelcon
ques, dans une question dont la Commission de 
conciliation elle-meme prend la peine de souli
gner le caractere complique et hasardeux. 

Question: Je me suis borne a faire etat du pa
ragraphe 11 de la resolution de 1' Assemblee gene
rate en date du 11 decembre. J e ne me suis. pas 
attache a discuter du nombre des refugies qui de
sireraient rentrer dans leurs foyers et vivre en 
paix avec leurs voisins; la n'est pas la question. 
En admettant que toutes les conditions enumerees 
par le representant d'Israel soient remplies et 
qu'un certain nombre de refugies desirent rentrer 
dans leurs foyers et vivre en paix avec leurs voi
sins, le Gouvernement d'Israel serait-il alors dis
pose a s'engager a accepter ce nombre de refugies 
et a les autoriser a rentrer dans leurs foyers? 

Reponse: Le nombre meme des refugies qui 
decideront de rentrer aura son influence sur les 
perspectives de paix et determinera si le rapa
triement est praticable, selon le criterium adopte 



rejected. There is no such thing in our view
although there is such a thing in the view of 
Arab Governments-as the outright and drastic 
rejection of a General Assembly resolution. It is 
the duty of a Government to which a recommen
dation is addressed to stretch itself to the utmost 
for its implementation, and if it encounters a 
difficulty arising from a generalized formulation, 
then it is the business of that Government to seek 
revision through normal and parliamentary forms. 

I cannot, however, answer in advance hypo
thetical questions which it will take weeks of direct 
negotiation to settle. Furthermore, even if in our 
minds there are certain ideas of the contribution 
which we can make, it would not merely pre
judice, it would ruin any chance of a successful 
act of negotiation if we were to rehearse the 
process of negotiation in advance, with the Gov
ernment of Israel called upon to do what the 
Arabs find themselves not called upon to do
to throw all its cards upon the table in public and 
at once. 

Question: I really have not received a direct 
reply to my question, so I shall put the question 
in this final form and ask the representative of 
Israel if he will kindly reply by "Yes" or "No''. 

Would the Government of Israel accept fully 
paragraph 11 of the resolution of 11 December 
1948? 

Answer: I have answered that question. 

The CHAIRMAN affirmed that members of the 
Committee should, as far as possible, direct their 
questions to matters not covered in the statement 
made by the representative of Israel at the pre
ceding meeting. At the same time, he urged the 
latter to make any references to his earlier state
ment as brief as possible. 

KHACHABA Pasha (Egypt) pointed out that 
by creating a new precedent whereby the repre
sentative of the Jewish authorities had been in
vited to clarify issues in connexion with the ad
mission of a new Member, the Committee had 
implicitly acknowledged that the application for 
admission was abnormal and that the attitude of 
the applicant called for serious reservations. From 
the outset, the Egyptian delegation had objected 
to the adoption of such a dangerous procedure. 
Its fears had proved justified, for the spokesman 
for the Jewish authorities had abused the privilege 
extended to him. He had failed to dispel the 
doubts expressed concerning the hostile attitude 
of those authorities toward the decisions contained 
in the General Assembly's resolution of 11 De
cember 1948 and to respect concrete and irre
futable facts. He had given no assurance that 
the terms of the resolution relating to the infer
nationalization of Jerusalem would be accepted. 
On the contrary, he had discussed the possibility 
of new proposals on that subject. Although the 
Assembly's resolution clearly recognized the right 
of the Arab refugees to repatriation, he had stated 
that a solution of that problem was inextricably 
bound with an over-all settlement of all outstand
ing issues. Nor had he given a satisfactory ex
planation respecting the assassination of Count 
Bernadotte ; in view of the earlier statement of 

par l'Assemblee generale. S'il existe une resolu
tion de 1' Assemblee generale, on ne saurait Ia re
jeter. Loin de nous la pensee - qui n'est pas 
toujours etrangere aux Gouvernements arabes -
de vouloir rejeter, d'emblee et sans appel, une 
resolution de I' Assemblee generale. II est du de
voir d'un gouvernement auquel une recomman
dation a ete adressee, de s'evertuer a !'extreme a 
Ia mettre en ceuvre, et s'il se heurte a une diffi
culte due a des formules trop generales, il lui 
appartient alors de chercher a faire reviser la re
solution par les voies parlementaires normales. 

Mais je ne puis trancher a l'avance des ques
tions hypothetiques qu'il faudra des semaines de 
negociations directes pour resoudre. D'autre part, 
en admettant meme que nous ayons quelque idee 
de Ia maniere dont nous pourrions contribuer a 
leur solution, nous serious certains, non seulement 
de compromettre, mais de detruire irremediable
ment toute chance de voir les negociations se 
derouler avec succes, si nous voulions proceder a 
l'avance a une repetition generale des negocia
tions, au cours de laquelle le Gouvernement d'Is
rael serait invite a faire ce que l'on ne songe 
pas a demander aux Arabes: jeter toutes ses car
tes sur table, ouvertement et sur-le-champ. 

Question: Ma question n'a pas, au fond, re\u 
de reponse directe; aussi vais-je Ia poser sous 
une forme definitive, en demandant au represen
tant d'Israel de bien vouloir repondre par oui ou 
par non. 

Le Gouvernement d'Israel accepterait-il sans 
reserve le paragraphe 11 de la resolution du 11 
decembre 1948? 

Reponse: J'ai deja repondu a cette question. 

Le PRESIDENT souligne que les membres de Ia 
Commission devraient dans toute Ia mesure du 
possible, faire porter leurs questions sur des 
points non abordes dans Ia declaration que le 
repres,entant d'Israel a faite a Ia derniere seance. 
Par Ia meme occasion, il prie instamment ce der
niet; d'abreger au maximum toute reponse qui 
reproduirait sa declaration anterieure. 

KHACHABA Pacha (Egypte) fait remarquer 
que Ia Commission a cree un nouveau precedent 
en invitant le representant des autorites juives a 
apporter quelques eclaircissements sur des ques
tions qui touchent a !'admission d'un nouveau 
Membre, et qu'elle a ainsi implicitement reconnu 
que Ia demande d'admission etait anormale et que 
!'attitude du postulant appelait de serieuses reser
ves. Des le debut, la delegation egyptienne s' est 
opposee a cette dangereuse maniere de proceder. 
Or, ses craintes se sont verifiees, car le porte
parole des autorites juives a abuse du privilege 
qui lui avait ete accorde. D'une part, il n'a pas 
dissipe les craintes exprimees au sujet de }'attitude 
hostile de ces autorites a l'egard des decisions 
contenues dans la resolution de 1' Assemblee gene
rate du 11 decembre 1948; d'autre part, il n'a 
montre aucune consideration pour des faits con
crets et irrefutables. Non content de ne pas don
ner !'assurance que les termes de la resolution 
qui se rapportent a l'internationalisation de J ern
salem seraient acceptes, il a meme envisage l'even
tualite de nouvelles propositions a ce sujet. Bien 
que Ia resolution de 1' Assemblee reconnaisse net
tement que les refugies arabes ont droit au rapa
triement, il a declare que la solution de ce pro
bleme etait indissolublement liee au reglement 
general de toutes les questions en suspens. I1 n'a 
pas donne d'explication satisfaisante en ce qui 

266 



the representative of Sweden (45th meeting), 
that point needed no further emphasis. Thus, in 
a deliberate attempt to obstruct a solution of those 
matters, the representative of the Jewish authori
ties had evaded specific replies to the questions 
put to him. 

The representative of Egypt drew attention to 
the important question of apportioning responsi
bility for the development of the situation in 
Palestine. The Jewish authorities appeared to have 
forgotten that the original partition plan was to 
have been carried out by a United Nations com
mission acting in conformity with the recommen
dations of the General Assembly and under the 
supervision of the Security Council. That plan 
had not authorized bands of terrorists to proclaim 
the existence of a State and by genocidal methods 
to drive out of their homes and attempt to extermi-. 
nate the Arab majority of Palestine. It had been 
a duty imposed by humanitarian principles to take 
up arms against such barbaric acts. 

In that connexion, the progress report of the 
United Nations Mediator for Palestine1 had noted 
cases of pillage and the destruction of whole towns, 
with no apparent justification on military grounds. 
It had specifically placed the responsibility for 
the restoration of Arab property on the Provisional 
Government of Israel. Moreover, that responsi
bility had been acknowledged in the recent As
sembly resolutions. While the Committee had not 
·been called upon to discuss the validity of the 
Assembly's decisions, it should be aware that the 
Jewish authorities now controlled territory usurped 
from the Arabs, that they had massacred women, 
children and old people and settled immigrant 
Jews in their homes, that they had spread ter
rorism throughout the country (as the Mandatory 
Power knew only too well), and that Zionists 
had no legitimate claims to that country. On those 
points, the representative of the Jewish authorities 
had been strangely silent. His replies had hardly 
served to create the atmosphere conducive to a 
speedy final settlement. 

Nevertheless, the State of Israel, which owed 
its existence to the efforts of the United Nations, 
was especially bound to respect the Assembly's 
decisions. No comparison could be made in that 
respect between the positions of the Arab States 
and that of the Jewish authorities. The former 
had been provoked by aggressive · acts directed 
against the true owners of Palestine, whose in
alienable rights the Jews refused to recognize. 

The United Nations had been seeking a just 
and peaceful solution of the Palestine problem for 
three years. In that time, the problem had become 
more and more complex and a final settlement 
was still far off. That situation was due not only 
to a yielding to the fait accompli, but to the ac
ceptance of fragmentary solutions when the prob
lem demanded an over-all settlement. Thus, the 
stability of the Near East had been seriously 
disturbed. The time had come to get to the root 
of the problem and to deal with positive realities 
in the light of the basic principles of the Charter. 

1 See Official Records of the third session-of the General 
Assembly, Supplement No. 11. 

267 

concerne l'assassinat du comte Bernadotte: eta.'llt 
donne la declaration anterieure du representant 
de Ia Suede ( 45eme seance), il est inutile d 'insister 
davantage sur ce point. Le representant des auto
rites juives s'est deliberement efforce de faire 
obstacle a la solution de ces problemes, en evitant 
de repondre avec precision aux questions qui lui 
ont ete posees. 

Le representant de l'Egypte attire !'attention 
sur une importante question : celle de savoir a qui 
incombe les responsabilites, en ce qui concerne 
1' evolution de la situation en Palestine. Les auto
rites juives semblent avoir oublie que l'examen 
du plan original de partage avait ete confie a 
une commission des Nations U nies, qui devait 
suivre les recommandations de 1' Assemblee gene
rale, sous le controle du Conseil de securite. Ce 
plan n'autorisait pas des groupes de terroristes a 
proclamer !'existence d'un Etat, a chasser de ses 
foyers et a essayer d'exterminer, par des metho
des apparentees au genocide, Ia majorite arabe de 
Palestine. C'etait un devoir impose par des prin
cipes humanitaires que de prendre les armes con
tre des actes aussi barbares. 

A ce propos, le rapport interimaire du Media
teur des Nations U nies pour la Palestine1 a signale 
des cas de pillage et de destruction de villes en
tieres sans raison militaire apparente. II a explici
tement confie la responsabilite de la restitution 
des biens arabes au Gouvernement provisoire d'Is
rael. Cette responsabilite a egalement ete recon
nue dans les resolutions prises recemment par 
1' Assemblee. Bien que Ia Commission n'ait pas 
ete appelee a examiner la validite des decisions 
de 1' Assemblee, elle ne doit pas ignorer que les 
autorites juives controlent maintenant des terri
toires arraches aux Arabes, qu'elles ont massacre 
des femmes, des enfants et des vieillards et ins
talle des immigrants juifs dans les foyers usurpes, 
qu' elles commettent des actes de terrorisme dans 
tout le pays (la Puissance mandataire ne le sait 
que trop bien) et que les sionistes n'ont aucun 
droit legitime sur le pays. Sur ces points, le repre
sentant d'Israel a observe un silence etrange. Ses 
reponses n'ont guere contribue a creer !'atmos
phere necessaire a un reglement definitif rapide. 

Cependant, l'Etat d'Israel, qui doit son exis
tence aux efforts de !'Organisation des Nations 
Unies, est particulierement tenu de respecter les 
decisions de 1' Assemblee. On ne peut, a cet egard, 
comparer !'attitude des Etats arabes avec celle 
des autorites juives. L'attitude des Etats arabes a 
ete provoquee par les actes d'agression contre les 
veritables possesseurs de la Palestine, dont les 
J uifs refusaient de reconnaltre les droits inaliena
bles. 

Depuis trois ans, !'Organisation des Nations 
Unies cherche une solution equitable et pacifique 
au probleme palestinien. Pendant ce temps, ce 
probleme est devenu de plus en plus complexe et 
on est loin d'etre arrive a un reglement definitif. 
La cause de cette situation n'est pas seulement 
qu'on s'est incline devant un fait accompli, mais 
aussi qu'on a accepte des solutions partielles, alors 
que le probleme exige un reglement d'ensemble. 
Ainsi, Ia stabilite du Proche-Orient a ete grave
ment compromise. Le moment est venu d'aborder 
le fond meme du probleme et d'examiner les 
realites positives, a Ia lumiere des principes fon
damentaux de Ia Charte. 

1 Voir les Documents officiels de la troisieme session de 
l' Assemblee generate, supplement N• 11. 



Israel's application for admission to membership 
could not be dissociated from the whole question 
of Palestine. It should be borne in mind that the 
Assembly had set up a Conciliation Commission 
which had not completed its task. Indeed, an Is
raeli spokesman had recently referred to claims 
still to be made on the N egeb, the difficulties 
arising from the internationalization of Jerusalem 
and the Arab refugees who made up the bulk of 
the population of Palestine. The statement made 
at the preceding meeting by the representative 
of Israel merely served~ to emphasize that those 
problems were still far from solution. In the 
circumstances, it would be illogical to take any 
decision now regarding the admission of Israel. 

Consideration of Israel's application for ad
mission presupposed that the questions of bound
aries, of population, and especially of the Arab 
refugees, had been definitively settled. In fact, 
those boundaries were still uncertain and the 
demographic problems still required clarification. 
To admit Israel at the present time would be 
to embark on an uncertain, nay, a humiliating 
course. The Assembly would be permitting the 
de facto situation to supersede law and justice, 
and would be distorting the spirit and letter of 
the Charter. 

The representative of Egypt recalled once again 
the terms of Article 4. However, the representa
tive of Israel was now contesting the right of the 
Assembly to verify that the applicant State had 
fulfilled the conditions set forth therein and had 
respected the decisions of the United Nations. 
The General Assembly was the -only body em
powered to take a final decision on the admission 
of new Members. The Security Council had merely 
submitted a recommendation. In the case under 
discussion, no additional condition for member
ship had been set; but the Assembly was fully 
entitled to review the past actions of the applicant 
in order to obtain assurance that it was willing 
and able to fulfill the conditions laid down in the 
Charter. 

Accordingly, the Assembly had the right to in
quire whether Israel was legally a State which 
had those qualifieations. Obviously, it lacked the 
constituent elements of a State. Its territory had 
not been defined. The armistice agreements re
cently concluded with the Arab States did not alter 

·the situation; they merely served to draw lines 
between opposing military forces. They did not 
in any way prejudge the rights and claims of 
the parties in a final settlement. 

Furthermore, the great majority of the popula
tion of Israel consisted of immigrants who had 
no real roots in Palestine. It might be argued 
that they were attached to the country by J ucla
ism; but Christians and Moslems certainly had 
a more solid attachment to Palestine. This had 
been recognized explicitly in the Assembly reso
lution of 11 December 1948, which stated the 
principle of repatriation. That question of prin
ciple could not be isolated from the whole problem. 
The ever-increasing number of Arab refugees 
bore witness to the amorphous condition of the 
population under Israeli de facto authority. The 
Assembly had surely never left the fate of the 
Arab inhabitants solely to the discretion of the 
Zionists, nor recognized their right to set up an 
entirely Jewish State. 

La demande d'admission d'Israel a !'Organisa
tion ne peut etre dissociee de !'ensemble de la 
question palestinienne. I1 ne faut pas perdre de 
vue que 1' Assemblee a cree une Commission de 
conciliation qui n'a pas termine sa tache. En fait, 
un porte-parole israelien a mentionne recemment 
des revendications eventuelles sur le N egeb, les 
difficultes decoulant de l'internationalisation de 
Jerusalem et le probleme des refugies arabes qui 
constituent la majeure partie de la population de 
Palestine. La declaration faite a la seance prece
dente par le representant d'Israel n'a servi qu'a 
demontrer que ces problemes etaient loin d'etre 
resolus. En pareilles circonstances, il serait illo
gique de prendre maintenant une decision au sujet 
de !'admission d'Israel. 

L'examen de la demande d'admission d'Israel 
presuppose le reglement definitif des questions de 
frontieres, de population, et notamment la solu
tion du probleme des refugies arabes. En fait, les 
frontieres sont encore mal definies et les questions 
demographiques demandent a etre Clucidees. Ad
mettre Israel a l'heure actuelle serait s'engager 
dans une voie hasardeuse, pour ne pas dire hu
miliante. L' Assemblee permettrait ainsi qu'une 
situation de fait l'emporte sur le droit et la jus
tice, et irait a l'encontre de !'esprit et de Ia lettre 
de la Charte. , l 

Le representant de l'Egypte rappeile, urie !ois 
de plus, les dispositions de 1' Article ..J.. Or, le 
representant d'Israel conteste maintenant le droit 
de 1' Assemblee de verifier si l'Etat candidat a rem
pli les conditions exposees dans cet Article et a 
respecte les decisions de !'Organisation des Nations 
U nies. L' Assemblee generale est le seul organisme 
habilite a prendre une decision finale sur !'admis
sion des nouveaux Membres. Le Conseil de secu
rite a simplement presente une recommandation. 
Dans le cas a !'etude, aucune condition supplemen
taire n'a ete prevue pour !'admission, mais l'As
semblee a parfaitement le droit d'examiner les actes 
passes de l'Etat candidat afin de s'assurer qu'il est 
dispose a remplir les conditions exposees dans la 
Charte et capable de le faire. 

L'Assemblee a, par consequent, le droit d'exa
miner la question de savoir si Israel est, du point 
de vue juridique, un Etat qui repond a ces condi
tions. II est manifeste qu'il ne possede pas les 
elements constitutifs d'un Etat. Son territoire n'a 
pas ete defini. Les accords d'armistice recem
ment conclus avec les Etats arabes ne changent 
pas la situation ; ils fixent simplement une ligne de 
demarcation entre des forces armees en presence. 
Ils ne prejugent en rien les droits et les revendi
cations des parties, lors d'un accord definitif. 

En outre, la grande majorite de la population 
d'Israel se compose d'immigrants qui n'ont pas 
de racines profondes en Palestine. On pourrait 
pretendre que le J udaisme les rattache a ce pays, 
mais les chretiens et les musulmans y ont certai
nement des attaches plus solides. La resolution 
de l'Assemblee generale du 11 decembre 1948, en 
enon<;ant le principe du rapatriement, a explicite
ment reconnu le fait. Cette question de principe 
ne peut etre separee de !'ensemble du probleme. 
Le nombre sans cesse croissant des refugies arabes 
temoigne de la situation incertaine de la popula
tion sous l'autorite de fait d'Israel. I1 est evident 
que 1' Assemblee n'a jamais voulu laisser le sort 
des habitants arabes uniquement a la discretion des 
sionistes, ni reconnu le droit de ceux-ci de creer 
un Etat entierement juif. 

26R 



Israel was not a peace-loving State. Even before 
the termination of the Mandate, it had been guilty 
of acts of terrorism against the defenseless Arabs 
which had rivalled acts committed by the Hitler 
regime. The Arab inhabitants had been forced to 
abandon whole villages and to seek refuge. There 
were more than 800,000 wandering and homeless 
refugees in the neighbouring Arab States and in 
the territory not occupied by Israel. To solve the 
problem of the European ] ewish refugees, Israel 
had inflicted an even crueler fate on the legitimate 
Arab inhabitants of Palestine. While the tragic 
situation of the European refugees was nearing an 
end, a new crueler period had begun for the 
Arabs of Palestine. The representative of Israel 
had failed to present any argument to justify .such 
a development. 

Moreover, in statements made to the Assembly 
at the first part of its third session, the represen
tative of Egypt had emphasized the dangers to 
international security involved in creating a Jewish 
State in Palestine.1 He had pointed out that Jewish 
immigration was actually a manifestation of the 
expansionist policy of the Jewish authorities. The 
recent statement of the representative of Israel 
had confirmed his conviction. The plan advocated 
by the Israeli Government for the disposal of the 
N egeb was but one illustration of that policy. 
In the circumstances, Israel could not be con
sidered a peace-loving State which would con
tribute to the establishment of enduring peace in 
the Middle East. 

In the opinion of Khachaba Pasha, a State which 
committed such acts and which showed such 
threatening intentions toward its neighbours, was 
far from being peace-loving. Moreover, from the 
beginning of the Palestine conflict and the United 
Nations intervention to settle that conflict, Israel's 
attitude had been marked by a series of violations 
of the aims and principles of the Organization and 
the resolutions of its organs. 

Israel's systematic and unpunished violations 
of the resolutions of the Security Council, was 
responsible for the atrocities committed against 
the Arab population and the tragic situation of 
more than 800,000 refugees. 

The Security Council's resolution of 29 May 
19482 providing for four weeks of truce in Pales
time and prohibiting the entry of combat person
nel and arms into Palestine and the Arab States, 
had been violated by the Zionists who took advan
tage of the suspension of hostilities to strengthen 
their position, as shown in the report of the 
United Nations Mediator. 

On 27 July the Security Council invoked Article 
39 of the Charter.3 Not content with violating 
Security Council resolutions, the ] ewish authori
ties had defied the United Nations by assassinating 
in full daylight the United Nations Mediator while 
he was performing his duties. No satisfactory re
ply had been given regarding attempts to appre
hend and punish the perpetrators of that crime. 

More recently, the General Assembly resolution 
of 11 December 1948 had established a Concilia
tion Commission to carry on the work of the 

1 See Official Records of the third session of the General 
Assembly, Part I, Ad Hoc Political Committee, 8th meet
ing, page 80. 

2 See Official Records of the Security Council, Third 
Year, Supplement for May 1948, page 103. 

3 Ibid .. Third Year, No. 98. 

Israel n'est pas un Etat pacifique. Meme avant 
la fin du Mandat, il s'etait rendu coupable, contre 
des Arabes sans defense, d'actes de terrorisme 
qui ne le cedaient en rien aux actes commis par le 
regime hitlerien. Les habitants arabes avaient ete 
forces d'abandonner des villages entiers et de 
chercher un lieu de refuge. II y a plus de 800.000 
refugies, errant et sans logis, dans les Etats arabes 
voisins et dans le territoire non occupe par Israel. 
Pour resoudre le probleme des refugies juifs d'Eu
rope, Israel a inflige un sort plus cruel encore aux 
Arabes, habitants legitimes de Palestine. Alors 
que la situation tragique des refugies d'Europe est 
sur le point de prendre fin, une periode nouvelle 
et plus cruelle a commence pour les Arabes de 
Palestine. Le representant d'Israel n'a pas pre
sente d'arguments pour justifier cet etat de chases. 

Au cours des declarations faites devant 1' Assem
bli~e pendant la premiere partie de la troisieme 
session, le representant de l'Egypte a signale 
deja le danger que presenterait, pour Ia securite 
internationale, Ia creation d'un Etat juif en Pales
tine\ II a fait observer que !'immigration juive 
etait reellement une manifestation de Ia politique 
expansionniste des autorites juives. La declaration 
recente du representant d'Israel a renforce sa con
viction. Le plan preconise par le Gouvernement 
d'Israel pour regler le sort du Negeb n'est qu'une 
illustration de cette politique. En pareilles circons
tanc;es, Israel ne peut etre considere comme un 
Etat pacifique qui contribuera a l'etablissement 
d'une paix durable dans le Moyen-Orient. 

De !'avis de Khachaba Pacha, un Etat qui com
met de tels actes et temoigne d'intentions aussi 
menac;antes a l'egard de ses voisins, est loin d'etrt 
pacifique. En outre, depuis le debut du conflit en 
Palestine et de !'intervention des Nations Unies 
aux fins de regler le differend, !'attitude d'Israel 
n'a ete qu'une serie de violations des buts et prin
cipes de !'Organisation ainsi que des resolutions 
de ses divers organes. 

II faut voir dans cette violation systematique et 
impunie des resolutions du Conseil de securite 
Ia cause des atrocites commises contre Ia popula
tion arabe et de la tragique situation de plus de 
800.000 refugies. 

La resolution du Conseil du 29 mai 19482 , qui 
ordounait une treve de quatre semaines en Pales
tine et interdisait !'entree de personnel combattant 
et d'armes en Palestine et dans les Etats arabes, 
a ete violee par les sionistes, qui ont profite de 
la suspension des hostilites pour renforcer leur 
position, ainsi que le demontre le rapport du Me
diateur des Nations Unies. 

Le 27 juillet, le Conseil invoquait 1' Article 39 
de Ia Charte3 • Non contentes de violer ses resolu
tions, les autorites juives ont defie Ies Nations 
Unies en faisant assassiner en plein jour le Media
teur des Nations U nies dans I' exercice de ses fonc
tions. On n'a jamais connu Ies resultats de l'en
quete qui devait demasquer les auteurs de ce 
crime et les livrer a la justice. 

Plus recemment, la resolution de I' Assemblee 
generale, en date du 11 decembre 1948, creait une 
Commission de conciliation afin de poursuivre la 

1 Voir les Documents officiels de la troisieme session de 
l'Assemblee generale, premiere partie, Commission poli
tique Speciale, 8eme seance, page 80. 

2 Voir les Proces-verbaux officiels du Conseil de securite, 
troisieme annee, supplement de mai 1948, page 103. 

3 Idem, troisieme annee, N" 98. 

269 



Mediator. Paragraph 11 provided for the return 
of Arab refugees to their homes and the payment 
of compensation for the property of those not 
wishing to return. Israel had refused the Com
mission's request to implement that provision, and 
had adopted a policy of settling foreign Jewish 
immigrants in the place of the legitimate Arah 
inhabitants. 

Paragraphs 6, 25 and 26 of the second progress 
report of the Conciliation Commission of 5 April 
1949 confirmed the deplorable situation of the 
Arab refugees in refugee camps visited by the 
Commission and presented the view of Mr. Ben
Gurion that, despite paragraph 11 of the General 
Assembly resolution stating that refugees who 
wished to go to their homes and live in peace 
with their neighbours should be allowed to do 
so, the return of the refugees was contingent on 
the establishment of peace. That view meant 
the rejection of United Nations decisions and 
the absence of peaceful intentions. The reference 
to paragraph 11 of the resolution to the effect 
that refugees should live in peace, was merely 
an attempt to avoid the formal obligation imposed 
by the General Assembly. Moreover, it was hardly 
conceivable that the repatriation of a destitute and 
disarmed population could endanger peace. The 
Conciliation Commission had rightfully stressed 
the importance of the acceptance of that principle 
in creating a favourable atmosphere for the ex
change of views. The reply of the Jewish authori
ties indicated a refusal to adopt a humanitarian 
1nd peaceful policy. In his statement to the Com
mittee, the representative of Israel had stated 
that the refugee problem was an integral part of 
the general settlement and had added that his 
Government considered the resettlement of refu
gees in neighbouring areas as a fundamental prin
ciple. That policy would sew the seeds of hate 
in the hearts of thousands of Arab exiles and 
make them seek vengeance. It was the negation 
of all principles of human rights. 

Instead of respecting the provision of the Gen
eral Assembly resolution of 11 December 1948 
for a special regime for Jerusalem and the Holy 
places, Israel had established its Constituent As
sembly in Jerusalem and had set up governmental 
departments in that city. Israeli spokesmen con
stantly stated that Jerusalem was the capital of 
their State. From the beginning of the conflict, 
Israeli forces had attacked and desecrated Holy 
places without regard to their sacred character. 
Recently Mr. Ben-Gurion had stated to the Con
ciliation Commission that for political, historical, 
and religious reasons, the State of Israel could 
not accept the establishment of an international 
regime for Jerusalem. During its exchange of 
views with Arab delegations, the Commission had 
found the Arabs as a whole willing in principle 
to accept an international regime for the Jerusalem 
area, provided that the United Nations could 
offer the necessary guarantees to ensure stability 
and permanence. The attitude of Israel was in 
strange contrast with the attitude of Arab States, 
which favoured internationalization despite their 
legitimate claims in that region and their record 
of conserving Holy Places of all religions and 
protecting freedom of worship for all cults. To 
minimize that contrast, Mr. Ben-Gurion had stated 
that the Government of Israel accepted the es-

tache du Mediateur: le paragraphe 11 de cette 
resolution assurait le retour dans leurs foyers aux 
refugies arabes et le paiement d'une indemnite a 
titre de compensation pour les biens de ceux qui 
prefereraient ne pas revenir. Israel a refuse d'ob
tel?perer a la requete de la Commission pour la 
mtse en <:euvre de ces dispositions, et a adopte 
~r:e politique consistant a installer des immigrants 
Jutfs venus de l'etranger a la place des legitimes 
proprietaires arabes. 

Les .P<~;ragraphes ~'. 2? et 26 du rapport de la 
Comnusswn de conohatwn du 5 avril 1949 con
firment la deplorable situation des refugies arabes 
dans les ca.mps visites par la Commission et expo
sent le pomt de vue de M. Ben-Gurion qui su
bordonne au retablissement de la paix le <retour 
des refugies, en depit de la resolution de 1' As
semblee generale qui disposait en son paragraphe 
11 que les refugies desireux de revenir a leurs 
foyers et disposes a vivre en paix avec leurs voi
sins seraient autorises a le faire. Ce point de vue 
ignore les decisions des Nations U nies et denote 
!'absence d'intentions pacifiques. En citant le pas
sage du papgraphe 11 de la resolution qui dis
pose que les refugies doivent vivre en paix, on 
tente simplement de se derober aux formelles 
obligations imposees par 1' Assemblee generale. De 
plus, il est a peine imaginable qu'en rapatriant 
des gens depourvus et desarmes, on risquerait de 
compromettre la paix. La Commission de concilia
tion a eu raison d'insister sur !'importance d'ac
cepter le principe de rapatriement pour creer une 
atmosphere favorable a la discussion. La reponse 
des autorites juives constitue un refus d'adopter 
une politique humaine et pacifique. Dans sa decla
ration devant la Commission, le representant d'Is
rael a soutenu que le probleme des refugies faisait 
partie integrante d'un reglement general, ajou
tant que son Gouvernement considerait comme 
principe fondamental la reinstallation des refugies 
dans les regions voisines. Cette politique semerait 
des germes de haine et d~s desirs de revanche dans 
le cceur de milliers d'exiles arabes; elle est con
traire a tons les principes des droits de l'homme. 

Au lieu de respecter les dispositions de la reso
lution de 1' Assemblee generale du 11 decembre 
1948 en ce qui concerne l'etablissement d'un re
gime special pour Jerusalem et les Lieux saints, 
Israel a installe a Jerusalem son Assemblee cons
tituante et ses ministeres. Les porte-parole d'Is
rael declar~nt toujours que Jerusalem est la 
capitale de leur Etat. Depuis le debut du confiit, 
les forces d'Israd ont attaque les Lieux saints, 
sans egard pour leur caractere sacre. M. Ben
Gurion a declare recemment a la Commission de 
conciliation que, pour des raisons politiques, his
toriques et religieuses, l'Etat d'Israel ne pouvait 
accepter l'etablissement d'un regime international 
pour la Ville de Jerusalem. Au cours de ses echan
ges de vues avec les delegations arabes, la Com
mission a trouve, en general, les Arabes disposes 
a accepter en principe un regime international 
pour la region de Jerusalem, pourvu que les N a
tions Unies puissent offrir les garanties necessai
res a la stabilite et a la duree d'un tel regime. 
L'attitude d'Israd presente un etrange contraste 
avec celle des Etats arabes, qui favorisent l'inter
nationalisation malgre leurs droits legitimes sur 
la region et la maniere dont ils ont su preserver les 
Lieux saints de toutes les religions et garantir la 
liherte a tous les cultes. Pour attenuer ce con
traste, M. Ben-Gurion a declare que le Gouverne
ment d'Israel acceptait l'etablissement d'un ·re-

270 



tablishment of an international regime in J erusa
lem for the Holy Places only, and the representa
tive of Israel had further stipulated that a regime 
for control and protection was involved and that 
integration of the Jewish part of Jerusalem had 
taken place. 

In the opinion of the representative of Egypt, 
that policy would create an abnormal situation 
contrary to the spirit of the General Assembly 
resolution. It would then be impossible to isolate 
the Holy Places from the rest of the Holy City 
or to guarantee free access or ensure other nec
essary safeguards. Above all, it would be difficult 
to avoid causes of armed conflict. The represen
tative of Egypt said that, in the spirit of the 
resolution on the internationalization of Jerusalem, 
he was not only concerned with the necessity of 
ensuring protection of the Holy Places and free 
access thereto, but also with the setting up of a 
zone which would separate the parties to the 
conflict. 

The warlike tendencies in the history of the 
Zionist movement led to distrust of any statements 
made by the Zionists in that connexion. In an 
attempt to safeguard the Holy Places from the 
danger of a new conflict and to satisfy the Moslem 
and Christian worlds, the Arao States had ac
cepted internationalization of the entire zone of 
Jerusalem, although a tremendous sacrifice on 
their part was involved. 

The Egyptian delegation appreciated the reasons 
which had led the Commission to request supple
mentary information from the Holy See. That 
action had undoubtedly been taken in confirmation 
of the basic principles of the resolution on the 
internationalization of the entire Jerusalem area, 
the only solution which assured the protection of 
the interests of the three world religions in J eru
salem. By its direct and indirect opposition to 
the internationalization of Jerusalem, Israel merely 
sought to impose its conditions on the United 
Nations in flagrant defiance of its principles. 

Could it be said that a community which had 
never respected the spirit or the letter of the 
Charter was able to fulfil the obligations of the 
Charter? On the basis of those facts, it would 
be difficult to see how the application of Israel 
for admission could be supported by certain Mem
bers of the Organization, except on the basis of 
a feeling of pity for the Jews who had been per
secuted and rendered homeless. It should, how
ever, be pointed out that the Arabs of Palestine 
were in turn the victims of the same treatment 
at the hands of the Jews. The Arabs, however, 
were not asking for pity but for justice. They 
wanted the restoration of their rights and the 
application of the principles of the Charter. 

The representative of Egypt stressed the fact 
that the decision which the Committee was called 
upon to make would not only influence confidence 
in its action, but above all the dignity and the 
prestige of the United Nations. 

The General Assembly resolution regarding ref
ugees and the internationalization of Jerusalem 
had not been implemented by the Jewish authori
ties. Although the Assembly did not have the 
means of imposing its resolutions by force, no 

271 

gime international a Jerusalem, mais seulement 
pour les Lieux saints, stipulant, en outre, qu'il ne 
s'agirait que d'un regime de surveillance et de 
protection, et que la partie juive de Jerusalem res
terait a Israel. 

De l'avis du representant de l'Egypte, une telle 
politique creerait une situation anormale, incom
patible avec I' esprit de la resolution del' Assemblee 
generate. II serait impossible d'isoler les Lieux 
saints du reste de la Ville sainte, d'en assurer le 
libre acces et de fournir les autres garanties neces
saires. Et surtout, il serait difficile d'eliminer les 
causes possibles de conflit arme. Le representant 
de l'Egypte precise que, conformement a l'esprit 
de la resolution sur l'internationalisation de Jeru
salem, il attache de !'importance non seulement a 
la necessite d'assurer la protection des Lieux 
saints et leur libre acces mais aussi a la creation 
d'une zone neutre qui separerait les parties au dif
ferend. 

Les tendances belliqueuses manifestees par le 
mouvement sioniste au cours de son histoire em
pechent d'ajouter foi aux declarations faites a ce 
propos par les sionistes. Les Etats arabes, voulant 
sauvegarder les Lieux saints contre les dangers 
d'un nouveau conflit et donner satisfaction au 
monde musulman et au monde chretien, ont ac
cepte l'internationalisation de toute la region de 
Jerusalem bien que cela represente, de leur part, 
un sacrifice enorme. 

La delegation de l'Egypte apprecie a leur juste 
valeur les raisons qui ont pousse la Commission 
a demander des renseignements supplementaires 
au Saint-Siege. Cette mesure a sans aucun doute 
ete prise pour confirmer les principes de base de 
la resolution sur l'internationalisation de toute la 
region de Jerusalem, seule solution de nature a 
assurer la protection des interets des trois reli
gions mondiales a Jerusalem. En s' opposant, di
rectement ou indirectement, a l'internationalisa
tion de Jerusalem, Israel cherche simplement a 
imposer ses conditions a !'Organisation des Na
tions Unies, portant ainsi un defi direct aux prin
cipes de base de !'Organisation. 

Pent-on dire qu'une communaute qui n'a ja
mais respecte ni l'esprit ni la lettre de la Charte 
est capable de remplir les obligations qu'impose 
cette meme Charte? En presence de ces faits, on 
con<;oit difficilement que Ia demande d'admission 
d'Israet puisse trouver appui aupres de certains 
Membres de I' Organisation; cela ne peut s'ex
pliquer que par un sentiment de pitie a l'egard 
des J uifs qui out ete persecutes et prives de leurs 
foyers. Mais il y a lieu de remarquer que les Ara
bes de Palestine subissent a leur tour le meme 
traitement de Ia part des J uifs. Les Arabes, toute
fois, ne demandent pas Ia pitie, mais la justice. 
Ils demandent Ia restitution de leurs droits et 
1'application des principes de Ia Charte. 

Le representant de l'Egypte souligne que, de 
Ia decision que la Commission est appelee a pren
dre dependront non seulement Ia confiance en sa 
maniere d'agir, mais aussi et surtout Ia dignite et 
le prestige de !'Organisation des Nations Unies. 

Les dispositions de Ia resolution de 1' Assemblee 
generate qui concernent les refugies et l'interna
tionalisation de Jerusalem n' ont pas ete mises en 
ceuvre par les autorites juives. Bien que l'Assem
blee n'ait pas les moyens de faire appliquer ses 



effort should be spared to ensure respect for those 
resolutions. The General Assembly had an op
portunity to exert moral pressure on the recal
citrant party. The acceptance of Israel now would 
indicate a lack of seriousness in the decisions of 
the Assembly and would deal a serious blow to 
the dignity and prestige of the United Nations. 

The meeting rose at 1.15 p.m. 

FORTY-SEVENTH MEETING 

Held at Lake Success, New York, on Friday, 
6 May 1949, at 2.30 p.m. 

Chairman: General Carlos P. RoMULO 
(Philippines). 

56. Application of Israel for admission 
to membership in the United Na
tions (A/818) (continued) 

At the invitation of the Chairman, M. Eban, 
representative of Israel, took a seat at the Com
mittee table. 

The following is a verbatim record of the ques
tions asked by the representative of El Salvador 
and the replies of the representative of Israel. 

Mr. CASTRO (El Salvador) (translated from 
Spanish): At the previous meeting of the Com
mittee, the Egyptian representative stated that his 
delegation was opposed to the Committee's de
cision to invite the representative of Israel to 
attend its meeting in order to explain his Gov
ernment's attitude towards the application of the 
General Assembly resolutions (181 (II) and 194 
(III)) relating to the internationalization of J eru
salem and the surrounding area, the repatriation of 
refugees and the investigation of the tragic assas
sination of the United Nations Mediator, Count 
Bernadotte, and Colonel Serot. 

It was in fact the delegation of El Salvador 
which had asked the Committee to adopt such a 
decision. On the Danish delegation's suggestion, 
which was supported by the Australian delega
tion, the question of the assassination of Count 
Bernadotte and Colonel Serot was added to the 
list of questions contained in the El Salvador reso
lution (A/AC.24/60/Rev.l). I therefore think 
it my duty to give a brief explanation of the mo
tives behind the El Salvador proposal which was 
adopted, as amended with the agreement with my 
delegation, by an impressive majority of the Com
mittee at the 44th meeting. 

The State of Israel was established by the Gen
eral Assembly resolution of 29 November 1947. 
The General Assembly by that resolution decided 
that Jerusalem should be internationalized under 
the trusteeship of the United Nations. 

The delegation of El Salvador feels that during 
the consideration of Israel's request for admission 
to membership in the United Nations, it is indis
pensable to remove the doubts which have existed, 

resolutions par Ia force, elle ne doit epargner au
cun effort pour les faire respecter. L'Assemblee 
generalt a main tenant 1' occasion d' exercer une 
pression morale sur la partie recalcitrante. Si elle 
l'admet d'ores et deja parmi les Membres de !'Or
ganisation, elle donnera !'impression que ses de
cisions manquent de serieux et portera un coup 
tres grave a la dignite et au prestige de !'Organi
sation des Nations Unies. 

La seance est levee a 13 h. 15. 

QUARANTE-SEPTIEME SEANCE 

Tenue a Lake Success, New-York, 
le vendredi 6 mai 1949, a 14 h. 30. 

President: Le general Carlos P. RoMuLo 
(Philippines). 

56. Demande d'admission d'lsrael a 
!'Organisation des Nations Unies 
(A/818) (suite) 

Sur !'invitation du President, M. Eban, repre
sentant de l' Etat d' Israel prend place a la table de 
la Commission. 

Il est donne ci-dessous un compte rendu in ex
tenso des questions posees par le representant du 
Salvador et des reponses donnees par le represen
tant d'Israel. 

M. CASTRO (Salvador) ( traduit de l' espagnol) : 
Au cours de la precedente seance, le representant 
de l'Egypte a declare que sa delegation s'opposait 
a la decision prise par Ia Commission autorisant 
un representant d'Israel a assister a ses seances 
afin d'expliquer !'attitude de son Gouvernement 
en ce qui concerne !'application des resolutions 
(181 (II) et 194 (III)) de l'Assemblee generate 
relatives a l'internationalisation de Jerusalem et de 
la region adjacente, au rapatriement des refugies 
et a l'enquete sur le regrettable assassinat du 
comte Bernadotte, Mediateur des Nations Unies, 
et du colonel Serot. 

C'est Ia delegation du Salvador qui a propose a 
la Commission de prendre une telle decision. A 
la suite de suggestions faites par la delegation du 
Danemark et appuyees par la delegation de 1' Aus
tralie, on a ajoute, aux questiqns posees dans la 
resolution du Salvador, celle qui a trait a l'en
quete sur l'assassinat du comte Bernadotte et du 
colonel Serot. Je crois done de mon devoir d'ex
pliquer brievement les motifs de la proposition du 
Salvador (A/ AC.24/60 Rev. 1), adoptee par la 
Commission lors de la 44eme seance a une impor
tante majorite avec les amendements acceptes par 
rna delegation. 

L'Etat d'Israel a ete cree a la suite d'une reso
lution adoptee par 1' Assemblee generale le 29 
novembre 1947. Par cette meme resolution l'As
semblee generale s'est prononcee en faveur de 
l'internationalisation de Jerusalem sous la tutelle 
de !'Organisation des Nations Unies. 

La delegation du Salvador estime que, au cours 
de l'examen de la demande d'admission d'Israel, 
il est indispensable de dissiper les doutes qu'a 
suscites et que suscite peut-etre encore !'attitude 

272 




